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2021-2022 At a glance

Suppliers gave back $4M in Preferred Supplier Bonus Points

6316 Members received CML Loyalty Rebate worth $4M
$15M in Trade Rebate approved to be given to Members

We now have over 25K Members and 2000 Preferred Suppliers 
and over 10K (42%) of our Members are protected by Capricorn Mutual

$80.8M 
Fuel card sales 
with discount 
returning 

$422.1K

$6.4M 
Fuel card sales 
with discount 
returning

$189.2K

AU NZ 2668  Member feedback received

5600 claims lodged

$45M net claims paid out

Capricorn  
in the field

Phone 
calls

103.3K Capricorn Member sites visits

11.1K Capricorn Preferred Supplier visits

19K Capricorn Risk Services field visits

2681 New Capricorn Members

59K Capricorn 
customer service calls

9K Capricorn Area 
Manager phone calls

45K Capricorn Risk 
Services phone calls

5411 Capricorn Members 
activated Capricorn Service Data

7727 Members use fuel cards
Reconnected with 310 
Members & Preferred Suppliers 
at Capricorn Convention

Capricorn New Zealand

celebrated its 25th anniversary
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Stronger with Capricorn is about more than just 
strength in numbers. It’s about the strength that 
comes with being part of an extensive network 
forged by auto repairers, for auto repairers.

The strength to grow your small business 
supported by Capricorn and Preferred 
Suppliers’ products and services. Thanks to 
the Capricorn alliance, any small business 
owner is ready for what happens next.

Capricorn’s Vision
One Capricorn empowering our 
community to thrive.

Capricorn’s Purpose
To improve the lives of Members by supporting 
them in building stronger businesses.
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Chair's Letter

Welcome to Capricorn’s 2021-22 
Annual Report.

This third year of the pandemic may just have 
been the most challenging yet, and I continue to 
be absolutely inspired by the incredible resilience 
shown by the of the automotive aftermarket 
community.

While lockdowns and circuit-breakers seem to 
finally be a thing of the past, we’re now confronted 
by staff absenteeism, as COVID-19 tears through 
our workshops. We’ve also emerged from three 
years of interruption and adaptation to find the 
skills shortage that was already hampering our 
businesses is even worse than it was before 
the pandemic.

But there is a light on the hill. In Australia, Right to 
Repair Laws were introduced on 1 July, requiring 
automotive companies and original equipment 
manufacturers to release the information and data 
independent workshops need to be able to repair 
light vehicles. 

These laws, driven by our friends at the Australian 
Automotive Aftermarket Association and 
other major industry bodies, are a tremendous 
opportunity — not just for today, but for tomorrow. 
We hope that in the near future other important 
data, like telematics, will be added to Right to 
Repair laws. That campaign is already underway.

Despite the challenges we face as an industry — 
from labour shortages to electric vehicles — I still 
sense a wonderful enthusiasm across the industry. 
Members are investing in their businesses, seizing 
the opportunities in front of them, and building 
for success. 

I can say that with some certainty because, as a 
Member-owned organisation, Capricorn’s own 
results are a reflection of the mood in the wider 
industry. If Capricorn is profitable, it’s because 
our Members have been spending money. 
2021-22 was another good year. Let’s dive into 
some of the numbers.

“Member purchases 
from Preferred 
Suppliers reached 
$2.93 billion this 
financial year, up 
13% on 2021's 
results.”
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Member purchases from Preferred Suppliers 
reached $2.93 billion this financial year, up 13% 
on 2021’s results. Capricorn’s overall profit after 
tax was $17.4 million. 

More than $43.35 million in Capricorn Rewards 
Points was earned, and a trade rebate of $15.1 
million was paid to Members for trade account 
purchases made throughout the previous year. 
This rebate was issued as rewards points on your 
September 2021 statement.

In calculating the value of our returns to 
Members, Capricorn considers both monetary 
and non-monetary benefits. We call it 
“Member Value Return”, or MVR. 

In 2022 we returned $63.3 million in value 
to Members, which equates to an MVR of 
22.3%. That means for every dollar invested in 
Capricorn, you receive a 22.3% return. 

During the year, $12.5 million was distributed 
to shareholders by way of an ordinary dividend 
of 7%. 

Our protection division put in another strong 
performance this year, despite widespread 
flooding across eastern Australia leading to $37 
million claims lodged as at 30 June relating to 
this event. Capricorn Risk Services wrote $99.6 
million in gross protection for Capricorn Mutual 
Limited and eligible Mutual Members shared a 
loyalty rebate of $4 million. 

It’s the second time in the Mutual’s history we’ve 
declared a rebate. Last year eligible Mutual 
Members shared in a $6 million rebate, with 
those New South Wales and Queensland floods 
really making the difference between last year 
and this year. While the rebate might be a little 
lower, we’re immensely proud of our role in 
helping the Members affected by the flooding 
get back on their feet as soon as possible. 

“Despite the challenges 
we face as an industry — 
from labour shortages 
to electric vehicles — 
I still sense a wonderful 
enthusiasm across 
the industry.” 

In the last financial year, Capricorn Finance 
assisted Members by providing $33.01 million 
in loans. It’s fantastic to see so many Members 
investing in the future of their businesses.

Finally, 2021-22 was the year our borders 
finally reopened — both between states and 
with the wider world. Capricorn Travel booked 
$2.78 million in holidays during the year. 

This was my third year as Chair and, after spending 
what feels like eternity on Zoom and Microsoft 
Teams, it has been fantastic to finally return to 
face-to-face meetings. I don’t just mean board 
meetings (although that has been great) but also 
getting out and about and meeting Members 
and suppliers. I’m always interested to hear your 
stories, find out what’s going on in your world, 
and learn what you need from Capricorn. 

Finally, thank you to my fellow Board Directors 
for their support during 2021-22, and to David 
Fraser and his Executive Leadership Team for 
their steadfast management of our incredible 
cooperative.

I commend this annual report to you.

Mark Cooper 
Chair
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Letter from the Group CEO

With Australia and New Zealand finally opening 
up again after two years of lockdowns, the mood 
in the automotive industry by the end of the 
2021-22 financial year was buoyant.

Certainly, that’s the impression I got at our Hayman 
Island Convention in June — the first in-person 
convention we’ve been able to hold since Spain in 2018. 
It was fantastic to see so many Members and suppliers 
all together in one place again. 

Many Members and suppliers have reported they have 
had a good year and have kept busy throughout the 
pandemic. We know that many Members have used this 
period to plan for growth, and we know from the amount 
of business we’ve seen through Capricorn Finance that 
Members are now making those planned investments. 

That’s not to say we don’t face challenges, as Mark 
outlined in his report, but it’s always great to see 
Members believe in the future of their businesses 
and in the industry as a whole. We’re proud to stand 
alongside our Members as they achieve their business 
goals and work towards their dreams. We really are 
stronger together.

I’m also pleased to say Capricorn has welcomed 
2,681 new Members this financial year. That’s thousands 
of automotive businesses across Australia and New 
Zealand now leveraging the power of our cooperative to 
benefit their workshops, their staff and their customers. 
We welcome them, and our new Preferred Suppliers, 
into the Capricorn family.

Our new Members took our membership past the 
25,000 mark — making us Australia’s third largest 
cooperative. We’ve come a long way in the 48 years 
since 17 Golden Fleece service station operators 
decided to create a buying group to leverage their 
purchasing power. Steady growth over the past five 
decades has been a hallmark of Capricorn’s success 
and we couldn’t do it without you, so thank you for 
being a valued Member of the cooperative. 

2021-22 also marked 25 years since Capricorn began 
operating across the Tasman — starting in 1997 with 
one team member, one Member and four Preferred 
Suppliers. We now have 4,800 New Zealand 
Members and 420 Preferred Suppliers. It has been 
an absolute privilege to support each business owner 
who has embraced the power of the cooperative in 
the intervening years.

“Capricorn has welcomed 
2,681 new Members this 
financial year. That's thousands 
of automotive businesses 
across Australia and New 
Zealand now leveraging the 
power of our cooperative.” 
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On the subject of New Zealand, congratulations 
to Marama Thompson, who was named 
Capricorn’s Apprentice of the Year at our Rising 
Stars Awards. She was one of 341 nominees 
this year. Marama, from Auto Shoppe Eurotech 
in Hamilton, New Zealand, won $5,000 cash 
thanks to award sponsor Castrol, while her 
employer received a 12-month Repco Autopedia 
subscription and a place in the Workshop 
Whisperer’s Service Advisor Pro online program.

In the coming weeks Capricorn will release our third 
State of the Nation Report, with 1,900 Members 
contributing to this survey. This report is Capricorn’s 
landmark survey, taking a peek under the bonnet to 
see how our businesses are performing and taking a 
deep dive into whatever issues we’re facing.

In the 2021 report we identified a couple of key 
areas of concern. One was the skills shortage 
and the need for the industry to take on more 
apprentices to grow our pipeline of talent. In 2021, 
39% of Members were employing an apprentice — 
up from 34% in 2020.  

It’s fantastic to see that demand for apprentices 
is growing and that Members have embraced the 
idea that their apprentices are their future. This is a 
huge positive for the industry.

The second major issue we identified in State of the 
Nation 2021 was a general lack of preparedness 
for electric vehicles. It was that great technological 
disruptor Bill Gates who once observed that 
“we tend to overestimate the extent of change in 
the short-term, but underestimate change in the 
long-term.” I think the ACT Government’s recent 
announcement that it was banning the sale of fossil 
fuel-powered vehicles from 2035 has brought into 
sharp focus for many in the industry the fact that 
this change is coming, whether we’re ready for it 
or not. It might be the ACT today, but it’s going 
to spread. And it’s going to start affecting our 
businesses long before 2035. 

It’s better to be ready, of course, and I see a key role 
for Capricorn over the next 12 months in helping to 
support and help educate our Members on where 
some of the opportunities from EV might be found. 
Our team is working hard in this area and we’ll be 

talking to our colleagues in the UK and Western 
Europe to understand what lessons they’ve learned 
over the last decade or so, given their transition to 
EV is a good 10 years ahead of ours. 

If you’re interested in EV, or if you’re worried about 
what the switch to electric might mean for your 
business, we have a lot of information and resources 
on CapHub already and we’ll be releasing a lot more 
throughout 2022-23.

During the past year we’ve continued to invest in 
our digital platforms, like CapHub, to improve the 
Member experience. CapHub is filled with fantastic 
information and advice to help you build, grow and 
maintain your business. If you haven’t checked it out 
recently, be sure to take a look. 

A couple of other important tools in every 
Capricorn Member’s toolkit (they’re included in your 
membership) are AutoBoost and Capricorn Service 
Data. This year, 21,615 text messages were sent by 
Members using the Autoboost service while 5,411 
Members have activated Capricorn Service Data. 
These services are regularly updated throughout 
the year. 

As Mark has mentioned already, Australia’s 
Federal Choice of Repairer laws coming into force 
on 1 July 2022 will also be a game changer for 
our industry. It’s just another good reason to feel 
buoyant about the state of the industry and the 
road ahead of us.

Hopefully, 2022-23 will be the year we finally put 
this pandemic behind us. We know Members and 
suppliers are forward focused and have an eye on 
the future and we’re excited to stand alongside 
you for that journey. For Capricorn, your success is 
our success. 

Finally, I’d like to thank the hardworking team at 
Capricorn, right across Australia and New Zealand, 
for their ongoing dedication to and support of our 
Members and suppliers. Together we’ve achieved 
some fantastic results. I want to thank every last one 
of you for contributing to our success, and that of 
our Members and suppliers.

David Fraser  
Capricorn Group Chief Executive Officer

9Capricorn Society • Annual Report 2022



Capricorn Directors

Mark Cooper
VIC/TAS (Chair)  
GAICD, Grad. Cert. Comm

Mark became a member of Capricorn Society in 1995 and was first 
elected to the board in October 2013. He became Chair of the 
Board in 2019. Mark is a member of Capricorn’s Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee and Digital, E-Commerce and Innovation 
Committee. Mark is also a director of Capricorn Mutual Ltd. 

Mark has been involved in the automotive industry for over 40 years 
and currently owns and operates a number of mechanical services 
and repairs businesses. 

Mark has completed a marketing and financing independent 
business course, a Certificate IV in Small Business Management 
and obtained a Graduate Certificate in Commercialisation from the 
University of Tasmania. Mark is a director of several family-owned 
companies and currently sits on the Executive Committee of the 
TACC (Tasmanian Automotive Chamber of Commerce).

Mario Pirone
Vice Chair 
Independent Director 
B.Bus, Grad. Dip. Bus, FCPA

Mario joined the Capricorn board in July 2014 as an independent 
director and was appointed to the position of Vice Chair of the 
Board in 2019. Mario is a member of the Digital, E-Commerce 
and Innovation Committee as well as the Capricorn Relationship 
Committee. During the financial year Mario was the chair of the audit 
and risk committee (until 18 October 2021) and then moved to the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee as a member. 

Mario brings over 26 years’ experience as a senior executive and 
director in large and complex organisations. Mario has enjoyed a 
lengthy career in the general insurance, funds management and 
financial services fields. Mario was formerly CEO of the Guild Group 
(2009 to 2022), CEO of CGU Insurance (2004 to 2008) and a 
Senior Group Executive with Insurance Australia Group (1999-2008). 
Mario has also held a number of non-executive directorships over the 
past 11 years. 
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Phil Saxton
New Zealand  
GAICD

Phil joined the Capricorn board in 2015. Phil is the Chair of Capricorn's 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee and also serves on the 
Digital, E-Commerce and Innovation Committee and Capricorn 
Relationship Committee. Phil has also spent time on Capricorn’s Audit 
and Risk Committee. 

Phil has been involved in the automotive industry for over 29 years. 
Phil is the owner and operator of two automotive workshops in the 
Wellington region and has been a Capricorn Member for over 13 years. 
Phil is a Member of the New Zealand MTA and past President of the 
MTA Wellington. Over the past 13 years he has been involved in several 
voluntary community organisations and is the current Chairman of the 
Hutt Old Boys Rugby Football Club.

Julie Wadley
Western Australia  
GAICD

Julie was Capricorn’s first ever female director, joining the board in 
2014. Julie also serves on the Audit and Risk Committee. She has 
previously been a member of the Capricorn Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee and the Capricorn Relationship Committee. 

Julie has been involved in the automotive industry for over 49 years. 
Julie served on the MTAWA Board of Management, including as Vice 
Chairperson and has been a member of the MTAWA Body Repair 
Committee. Julie is also on the RACWA council and was previously 
on the RAC Club Board. She is a foundation member of Rotary Club 
of Safety Bay and past president and secretary and a member of the 
Institute of Automotive Mechanical Engineers.

David Kemp
Queensland  
GAICD

David was first elected to the board in October 2014 and is currently 
a member of Capricorn’s Audit and Risk Committee and Capricorn’s 
Relationship Committee. David has previously been a member of the 
Capricorn Remuneration and Nomination Committee. David has been 
involved in the automotive industry for almost 50 years. He is a qualified 
“A” grade mechanic, a qualified automotive electrical technician and 
is an approved examiner for Queensland Transport. David has an 
automotive workshop that is an approved repairer for the RACQ and 
provides assessments for both Suncorp and RACQ Insurance. 

David is currently Chair of the Warwick and District Community Road 
Safety Group Inc Committee and President of the Warwick Motorcycle 
Club. He has previously served as President of Warwick Rotary Sunrise.
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Capricorn Directors (continued)

Peter Stewart
SA/NT 
Dip.Auto, Dip.T, Adv.Dip.T, MMIAME, GAICD

Peter joined the Capricorn board in 2015. Peter is a member of 
Capricorn's Remuneration and Nomination Committee and served 
as Chair of that committee from 2018 to October 2020. Peter has 
previously spent time on Capricorn's Audit & Risk Committee. 

Peter has been involved in the automotive industry for over 24 years. 
He sits on a number of automotive industry committees. Peter has been 
a Capricorn Member since 1999 and is currently a Master Member 
of IAME, Deputy Chair of the MTA (SA) Automotive Repair Division 
Committee, a member of the Industry Advisory Council of the MTA (SA) 
and a member of the RAA Approved Repairers Committee.  

Lydia Stjepanovic 
NSW

Lydia was elected to the board in 2021 and became a member of 
Capricorn’s Audit and Risk Committee. 

Lydia is a second-generation automotive services business owner 
with a Bachelor of Business and Commerce (Management) from the 
University of Western Sydney and an Advanced Diploma in Business 
(Marketing) from Macleay College. 

Lydia grew up within the automotive industry as the daughter of an 
auto electrician. Lydia has been involved with the industry her entire 
life in one capacity or another. 

Bruce Rathie
Independent Director 
B.Comm, LLB, MBA, FIML, FAICD, FGIA, Grad Dip CSP, SA Fin

Bruce was appointed to the Capricorn board in July 2008 as an 
independent director. Bruce also served as Vice Chairman to the 
board from 2015 to 2018. Bruce is a Chair of Capricorn’s Audit and 
Risk Committee. He also chairs the Capricorn Mutual Board.

Bruce is currently a non-executive director of ASX listed PolyNovo 
Limited and ASX listed Cettire Limited. He is also currently Chair of 
ASX listed 4DMedical Limited and ASX listed CleanSpace Holdings 
Limited. Prior to commencement of his professional governance career 
in 2000, he had successful careers in private legal practice and then 
investment banking.
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Donna Vinci
Independent Director  
GAICD, AGIA

Donna joined the Capricorn board in 2019 and is a member of 
Capricorn’s Audit and Risk Committee as well as the Capricorn 
Relationship Committee. Donna also chairs Capricorn’s Digital, 
E-Commerce and Innovation Committee.

Donna previously held senior leadership positions at Bank of 
Queensland as the Chief Digital and Information Officer, IAG where 
she was Group General Manager, Group Digital and Group CIO, 
and prior to that, Donna was the Chief Operations and Information 
Officer of Westpac’s Institutional Bank. Donna has also held many 
global executive management roles at Citigroup, including Regional 
CIO and Global Head of Technology Risk Management and held 
other senior management roles at Potter Warburg and was a Director 
at Country Natwest. 

Outside of her corporate roles, Donna actively works with 
not-for-profit organisations in both formal and informal capacities 
across healthcare, education and community services, to support her 
passion of paying it forward and making a societal impact. Donna was 
also awarded Cisco’s Women in IT, 2019 CIO of the Year Award. 

DID YOU KNOW? 
Capricorn Members elect their Board Directors.   
Find out more about our Directors at  
capricorn.coop/directors

Russell Becker 
NSW/ACT  
FAICD 

Russell was elected to the Capricorn Board in 2005 after first 
becoming a member in 1991. Russell served as Chairman of the Board 
from 2015 to 2019. Prior to his leaving the board in October 2021 
Russell was a member of Capricorn’s Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. He was also a Director of Capricorn Mutual Ltd.  
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Capricorn Executive Leaders

David Fraser
Group Chief  
Executive Officer 
MBA, GAICD, FAICD, 
FAIM, A FIN, FGIA 
Joined Capricorn 2006

Jim Glossat
Chief Executive 
Officer Capricorn Risk 
B.Legs, MBA, GAICD  
Joined Capricorn 2014

Wes Smith
Group Chief  
Financial Officer 
B.Comm, FCPA, 
GAICD, AICM  
Joined Capricorn 2016

Kerryn Gavin  
General Manager 
People & Culture  
MBA  
Joined Capricorn 2020 

Bradley Gannon
Chief Executive 
Officer Automotive 
B.Comm, LLB (Hons), 
GradDipACG, GAICD 
(OM), FGIA, FCG, FAIM 
Joined Capricorn 2008 

Jason Frost
Group Chief 
Information Officer 
B.Bus, G.Dip.Fin.Plan, 
GAICD, CA, PMP 
Joined Capricorn 2008

Will Bargmann
General Counsel & 
Company Secretary 
BA (Hons); JD, GAICD 
Joined Capricorn 2019 

Kim Radalj 
General Manager 
Innovation & Corporate 
Development  
B. Econs (Hons)  
Joined Capricorn 2021 
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Drive to Thrive
Capricorn's rally call 'Drive to Thrive' is 

about the need to drive Capricorn forward. 
We want Capricorn, our Members and all 

our key partners to thrive.
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“Member purchases from 
Preferred Suppliers reached 
$2.93 billion this financial year, 
up 13% on 2021's results.”
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Key Financial Results

Member Purchases  
from Preferred Suppliers

3 Year Financial Summary ($M)

Member Value $M (pre-tax)

$43.35M 
in Rewards Points 
earned by Members

Member Value Return (%)

*The above key financial highlights have been audited as part of the Annual Report audit by Ernst & Young.

Capricorn Risk Services

$99.59M 
in gross protection

Capricorn Finance

$33.01M  
in loans to Members
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Sustainability Overview

Capricorn is taking real and measurable action in meeting Capricorn’s environmental, 
governance and social commitments (“Capricorn’s sustainability”). 

This sustainability report sets out the steps Capricorn is taking to make its business, 
and the business of its Members, more sustainable. This report is more about the 
proactive steps that Capricorn has taken in the environmental, social and 
governance areas. Discussions on the risks that Capricorn faces in these areas 
that are material to Members are set out in the Capricorn short form 
prospectus and not covered here.
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Our commitment to sustainability
We are proud of the achievements we have 
made in 2022 toward Capricorn’s sustainability 
commitments. These achievements included the 
board’s commitment to include sustainability 
explicitly in the annual report, which underscores 
the importance the board places on this topic. 
Being Member owned means that Capricorn 
places great emphasis on the work it does with our 
Members, and this report highlights our approach 
and our achievements.

During the year the board and management also 
continued its focus on good governance. The 
changes made in this area are set out below and the 
corporate governance statement in this report.

Environmental Sustainability
Capricorn acknowledges that its business activities 
do not create a large environmental footprint. 
Nevertheless, to the extent the business can make 
a difference to the environment both for itself and 
its Members, it tries to do so. 

During the year Capricorn continued its focus 
on maintaining good recycling practices in the 
business. It also attempts to streamline waste and 
packaging disposal. Capricorn staff continue to 
make use of the numerous and clearly marked 
recycling bins in the building.

The business acquired new printers, which are more 
energy efficient than the previous models. We also 
reduced the number of printers that we required.

At the Troode Street office Capricorn continues 
to benefit from its decision in 2016 to install solar 
panels on the roof of the office. Each year the 
system produces over 120,000 kWh of electricity 
and avoids over 84 tonnes of CO2 that would 
otherwise be emitted. Capricorn monitors the 
performance of its solar panels to ensure that the 
panels are generating as expected. 

Capricorn has also continued its focus on the 
environmental impacts of its vehicle fleet used by 
field employees. Fuel economy of the fleet (and 
consequently the carbon emissions) remains an 
important factor.

Social Sustainability
Social sustainability looks at a company’s business 
relationships. During the year Capricorn undertook 
several steps both for its own business and that 
of its Members that underscores the company’s 
commitment to social sustainability.
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Our People
Sustainable diversity practices
Capricorn recognises that providing employees 
with flexibility in how they work is beneficial to 
employees, managers, and Capricorn. As more 
and more employees want flexible working 
arrangements, offering that flexibility makes 
Capricorn a destination of choice, allowing the 
business to attract and retain the best and most 
diverse employees. Flexible working supports our 
employees manage the challenges of juggling 
their work/life balance in many ways. Employee 
performance improves by providing people with the 
right mix of working from home and working hours, 
generating sustained discretionary effort. Working 
flexibly also creates an environment where our 
leaders learn and adapt to new, creative, and better 
ways of working productively, resulting in longer 
term, higher quality outcomes for the business.

Capricorn is also very conscious of the creation of a 
gender pay gap, which can have negative effects on 
the company culture. To this end the business has 
conducted a comprehensive review of gender pay. 
Pleasingly we determined that we had no systemic 
issues. We do however recognise the importance 

of supporting our females within the business to 
develop their careers to bridge the gap Capricorn 
does have with respect to higher male participating 
rate at leadership levels. This year Capricorn has 
partnered with the National Association of Women 
in Operation (NAWO) to offer our top female talent 
a mentoring program. This program provides these 
women with a mentor outside of Capricorn in 
addition to a NAWO membership providing regular 
education from industry leaders. 

A crucial element of maintaining our ongoing 
commitment to diversity and inclusion is our 
D&I committee. This committee has been 
instrumental in celebrating our diverse workforce 
and championing the education of D&I with our 
team members. Earlier this year Capricorn invited 
Diversity Australia to educate our leaders on the 
impacts unconscious bias can have both in our work 
and professional lives. Internal training was then 
led by our managers to further educate all team 
members. Capricorn also celebrated a number of 
diversity and inclusion dates such as International 
Men's Day, International Women's Day and Pride 
month which included a number of guest speakers 
and educational material.
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To emphasise the importance of diversity and 
inclusion at board level, the board in its annual 
review of the board committee charters expanded 
the scope of the remuneration and nomination 
committee terms of reference to include oversight 
of any strategies intended to support diversity-
related objectives. The charter also calls for the 
committee to recommend to the board any policies 
or practices that promote diversity. 

Sustained safety and wellness 
in the workplace 
Capricorn’s commitment to safe workplace 
practices allows our employees to perform to 
the best of their ability without risking their 
health and safety. In the last year, no Capricorn 
employees have sustained any major physical or 
mental injuries, despite having over one-third of 
all employees driving each day to visit Members 
and Preferred Suppliers, and the challenges 
experienced as a result of the uncertainty 
COVID-19 continues to bring into our everyday 
lives. With the changing landscape of COVID-19 in 
the community Capricorn has been conscious of 
staying abreast of frequently changing government 
guidelines across Australia and New Zealand 
and assessing the risk COVID-19 presents to our 
workforce both in the office and in the field. Whilst 
Capricorn is following government guidelines, 
additional control measures have been used where 
it was deemed there is a higher risk to employee 
safety such as the use of masks on transport and 
rapid antigen testing prior to travel. 

This year we have continued to raise the awareness 
of the importance of good mental health through 
an Employee Assistance Program Awareness 
session conducted during Men’s Health Week in 
addition to mental health and wellbeing workshops 
conducted by our EAP provider for R U OK 
day. These sessions covered understanding the 
neuroscience of stress, resilience and a suite of 
techniques to facilitate wellbeing both personally 
and professionally. During the year, team members 
took advantage of the assistance program that 
Capricorn provides to employees, primarily 

to manage personal issues and mental health 
concerns, representing a 9.5% utilisation rate 
against an industry average of 9.08%. Capricorn 
does well to promote the availability of this offering 
and is pleased with the employee uptake. Effective 
use of EAP supports our employees manage their 
personal issues as well as work related issues which 
improves productivity and reduces unplanned 
absences. The availability of such a program also 
helps underscore Capricorn’s commitment to the 
wellbeing of its employees. 

“Capricorn’s commitment to  
safe workplace practices allows 
our employees to perform to the 
best of their ability without risking 
their health and safety.”
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A full review of Capricorn’s vehicle policy was 
conducted this year to ensure vehicles provided 
to our field team members are fit for purpose for 
both metropolitan and regional use. This review 
involved consultation with various stakeholders 
within the business, fleet providers and with 
vehicle manufacturers from a risk and WHS 
perspective. Adjustments have been made to 
the vehicles used for regional use in addition 
to modifications to mandatory rest breaks to 
ensure our employees are adequately rested 
when driving long distances. At the annual sales 
conference a fatigue management workshop 
helped to educate all field team members on the 
importance of driver fatigue and using strategies 
to remain alert when driving. 

Capricorn has been providing employees with a 
wellness program for a number of years however 
over the last 12 months the focus has been on 
introducing new initiatives to the business that 
appeal to the wider group including those not 
based in the office environment. One of the 
most successful initiatives to date has been 

the introduction of live and recorded financial 
health webinars conducted by Workplace Wealth. 
A series of webinars have been held over a six 
month period to educate staff on the importance of 
financial health. Topics covered included ‘building 
an awesome financial house, superannuation, 
insurance and investing. Some other initiatives 
provided to employees virtually included a men’s 
health webinar to celebrate Men’s Health Week and 
a series of parenting webinars presented by author 
and educator, Maggie Dent.

Sustained employee engagement
Capricorn has been using Gallup’s Q12 engagement 
survey as an indicator of employee engagement for 
the last four years however this year a number of 
other surveys have been used to obtain feedback 
from the business on what we can do to improve the 
culture at Capricorn and ultimately engagement. 
In late 2021 the business participated in the Barret 
Values Culture assessment giving the business 
insights into employees personal values, the current 
culture and the desired culture of the business. 
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A series of focus group sessions were held with 60% 
of the business to gain a greater understanding 
of the meaning of the results. This data has been 
collated along with the engagement survey, 
innovation survey and diversity and inclusion 
survey to understand the themes being presented 
by our people as areas to improve on. To ensure 
we remain focused on creating some tangible 
areas of improvement, senior leadership working 
groups have been established to focus on 
collaboration, purpose and vision; and leadership 
and professional development. 

Capricorn has also heavily invested in the 
development of team members this year with a 
refresh of the Accelerate (sales training) program 
for all sales teams within the business, a courageous 
conversations and feedback development day for 
the senior and sales leadership teams in addition 
to meeting the individual learning requirements of 
each team member. 

Co-operatives and Mutuals 
Contributing to the communities
The Australasian automotive aftermarket 
community is at the heart of Capricorn. It is not 
an added extra. Capricorn exists to fulfil the 
needs of our Members. Co-op’s and Mutuals 
(CME’s) are structurally invested in their members’ 
communities, not owned by distant shareholders. 
They know that a strong community will underpin 
the long-term success of the co-operative and 
its members.

Co-ops subscribe to the seven International 
Co-operative Principles including “Concern for 
Community”. Under this principle, “Cooperatives 
work for the sustainable development of their 
communities through policies approved by 
their members.” ¹

The second International Co-operative Principle, 
“Democratic Member Control,” enables 
communities to own and govern co-operatives 
jointly. It means co-operatives are accountable to 
all their members – not just the biggest shareholder 
- and this brings about inclusive and sustainable 
growth, leaving no one behind.

¹ International Co-operative Alliance, Statement 
on the Co-operative Identity, Values and 
Principles, viewed 27 July 2020, https://www.ica.
coop/en/cooperatives/cooperative-identity

In 2021, Capricorn undertook its second State of 
the Nation research report which is an important 
resource for Members to benchmark their 
operations and work towards a more sustainable 
future. The findings from this research were used 
throughout the year to investigate topics of interest 
for Members, with many articles focused on 
building stronger businesses. These were posted 
on CapHub our online content portal for Members 
and the wider industry.

Social Sustainability 
within Capricorn
Throughout 2021-22, Capricorn progressed 
actions to address the risks of modern-day 
slavery in relation to its operations and supply 
chains. These included the preliminary evaluation 
of the modern risk of all corporate suppliers, 
creating additional assessment tools and offering 
additional awareness refresher training to those 
involved in the selection and engagement of 
suppliers. Capricorn’s continued focus in this area 
is documented in the board’s annual Modern 
Slavery Statement.

This year Capricorn partnered with DV Safe Phone 
organisation. Capricorn people can now donate 
old mobile phones that will be reconditioned and 
provided to victims of domestic violence through 
this partnership.

The business also made a significant contribution 
to WA breast cancer research as part of a women in 
business fundraising initiative.  
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Governance Sustainability
It is a fundamental principle of Capricorn that 
all business affairs must be conducted legally, 
ethically, in good faith and with strict observance 
to the highest standards of integrity, propriety 
and commercial standard. Capricorn documents 
its expectations of staff in its code of conduct. 
The code includes how Capricorn requires its staff 
to avoid or deal appropriately with any situation in 
which they may have or be seen to have a conflict 
arising out of a relationship with others within or 
beyond the company.

Capricorn is committed to the effective 
management of risk, as documented through the 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF) 
and the Compliance Risk Management Framework 
(CRMF). These documents together operationalise 
Capricorn’s risk management policy by providing 
the systems, processes and tools to manage risk 
and compliance in line with the board-approved 
risk appetite statement. Capricorn clearly defines 
the accountabilities for risk management via 
the three lines model in which the Capricorn 
board has ultimate responsibility for overseeing 
the implementation of risk management within 
the organisation.

The board has determined Capricorn’s risk 
appetite that is documented in a risk appetite 
statement (RAS). The statement identifies 12 key 

risk appetites with appropriate risk tolerance 
measures (RTM) for each of these areas. 
The board receives updates on these RTMs at 
every meeting. As part of the ongoing review of 
the RAS management, the board agreed on some 
refinements to these measures during the year. 

During the year the board concluded that the 
growing importance of innovation and digital 
business to Capricorn and the ever-increasing need 
to focus on cyber resilience and safety necessitated 
the creation of a new board subcommittee. 
The newly-created Digital, E-Commerce and 
Innovation Committee held its first meeting 
in February 2022. 

Capricorn has no tolerance for any corrupt, 
illegal or other undesirable conduct. Capricorn’s 
whistleblower policy is an important element in 
identifying wrongdoing that may not be uncovered 
unless there is a safe and secure means for 
disclosure to the Whistleblower Protection Officer. 
All staff have received awareness training on 
matters which would relate to the policy and the 
process to report confidentially and anonymously. 
Capricorn’s whistleblower policy is also made 
available to all Members and Preferred Suppliers 
via the Capicorn.coop website.

Further detail on Capricorn’s commitment to 
governance sustainability is set out in the corporate 
governance section of the annual report.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Capricorn Society Limited (“Capricorn” or “the Group”) is committed to a strategy of 
good governance aligned with the principles of cooperation to fulfil our purpose of 
providing assistance to the automotive and allied services. 

As Australia’s largest automotive cooperative, good governance is key to how Capricorn’s objectives 
are set and achieved, how risk is monitored and assessed and to Capricorn’s ability to evolve with our 
changing circumstances. 

The board has resolved to adopt Edition 1.2 of the ‘Co-operative and Mutual Enterprise (CME) Governance 
Principles’ as prepared by the Business Council of Co-operatives and Mutuals (CME Principles). 

The board has chosen to adopt the CME Principles on the basis that they are primarily intended to aid 
consideration of what constitutes effective governance in an organisation that exists to deliver value to 
members rather than any regulatory requirement for compliance.

To ensure Capricorn’s governance remains resilient, sustainable and supportive of sound decision making 
the board regularly reviews the framework, its alignment with regulatory requirements and developments 
in the industry. During the year enhancements have been made to address requirements and to ensure the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the board and committees in achieving Capricorn’s strategic objectives.

This statement outlines Capricorn’s principal governance arrangements and practices. Capricorn has 
carefully considered each recommendation in the CME Principles. To the extent the board has considered 
a principle to be an appropriate benchmark for its governance practices, it has provided comments on how 
Capricorn meets that principle.

These governance arrangements were in place throughout the 2021/22 year.

Below is a diagram that provides an overview of Capricorn’s governance framework.
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Principle 1: Create, protect and return Member value

A CME should act on behalf of its members to achieve its agreed purpose by pursuing the sustainable 
creation, protection and return of value to current and future members

Recommendation 1.1 - Strategic Objectives

The board develops a clear set of strategic objectives designed to ensure sustainable creation, protection 
and return of value for Members as demonstrated by 2021-2022 At A Glance in this report.

Member collaboration and support for these strategic objectives is obtained through engagement of 
Capricorn’s field staff with Members, as well as both internal Member experience specialists and external 
research consultants. A key tool in Member collaboration and support is Capricorn’s State of the Nation 
report, which has been produced over the last three years and  involved survey responses from a statistically 
significant sample of Members each year.

Capricorn’s various publications allow for the monitoring and review of the implementation of these 
objectives and results are regularly reported through the Member Value Return tool which measures direct 
and indirect benefits provided to Members. Ultimately, Members decide on the effectiveness of Capricorn’s 
delivery of member value by choosing to remain Members and continuing to use Capricorn’s services.

The board considers the increase in Capricorn’s Membership of 2681 Members and growth in Member 
purchases by 13% in 2022 to be a positive endorsement by Capricorn’s Members that it is delivering on its 
strategy as a trusted Member-owned organisation.

Principle 2: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

A CME should establish and disclose the respective roles and responsibilities of its board and 
management and how their performance is monitored and evaluated.

Recommendation 2.1 – Roles and responsibilities

The board protects the rights and interests of the Members and is accountable to them for the overall 
direction and governance of Capricorn. It is ultimately responsible for all matters relating to the setting 
of strategic objectives and Capricorn’s risk appetite including the protection of the rights and interests of 
its Members. 

The board aims to govern Capricorn rather than manage it. In contrast, the role of the Group CEO and 
senior management is to manage Capricorn in accordance with the direction of the board.
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Role of the board
The board seeks to identify the expectations of the Members, as well as other regulatory and ethical 
expectations and obligations. In addition, the board identifies areas of significant business risk and ensures 
arrangements are in place to adequately manage those risks.

The board maintains a detailed board charter and underlying policies as well as a governance protocols and 
procedures manual which contains further detail on how the board charter and underlying policies are to 
be applied.

Certain matters are expressly reserved to the board, relating to key decisions on Capricorn’s strategy, 
financial management and governance (details of which Capricorn publishes as part of the Corporate 
Documents section of its website).

The board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring Capricorn. In discharging its stewardship, 
the board makes use of specialist committees or delegates to management.

The board’s use of specialist committees and delegations to management improves how the board 
manages key strategic issues.  These delegations are reviewed at least annually, with built in reporting 
requirements, ensuring the board’s oversight responsibilities are not diminished. During the year the board 
decided to create a new committee, the Digital, E-Commerce and Innovation Committee.

The responsibility for the operation and administration of Capricorn is delegated by the board to the Group 
Chief Executive Officer (Group CEO) and through him to the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). The board 
ensures this team is appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge its responsibilities and as such 
have in place procedures to assess the performance of the Group CEO and the ELT.

Specialist committees can focus on a particular responsibility and provide informed feedback to the board. 
To this end the board has established these committees:

Remuneration 
and Nomination 
Committee (RNC)

Assists the board with the provision of detailed 
advice regarding the size and composition of the 
board and in discharging its duty regarding director 
development and succession planning. The RNC 
provides the board with assurances regarding 
the quality, integrity and suitability of director 
nominations and makes recommendations on the 
final list of nominating Members eligible for election 
to the board. The RNC performs a similar role 
regarding the appointment of any non-executive 
Member director. Remuneration policies and 
practices for Capricorn are determined by the RNC 
and include those affecting the Group CEO and 
the ELT.  Advice and assurances given by the RNC 
on Capricorn’s corporate governance framework 
including advice on recent developments in 
corporate governance best practice.

Those appointed as at 
the date of the report:

Mr Philip Saxton (Chair)
Mr Mark Cooper
Mr Peter Stewart
Mr Mario Pirone
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Audit and Risk 
Committee (ARC)

Provides an independent and objective mechanism 
to focus on particular issues relevant to verifying and 
safeguarding the integrity of Capricorn’s financial 
reporting submitted by management to the board 
for issue to shareholders and regulatory authorities. 
The ARC reviews the adequacy of the reporting and 
accounting controls of Capricorn and establishes 
and maintains procedures in relation to the external 
auditor selection, appointment and lead partner 
rotation. It also makes recommendations to the board 
on the appointment of the external auditors and 
oversees, co ordinates and appraises the quality of 
audits conducted internally and externally. The ARC 
ensures that adequate procedures are in place for the 
identification, management and monitoring of risks 
and regularly reviews Capricorn’s corporate insurance 
program. By scheduling regular meetings, open lines 
of communications are maintained among the board 
and the external auditors to exchange views and 
information, as well as confirm their respective authority 
and responsibilities.

Those appointed as at 
the date of the report:

Mr Bruce Rathie (Chair)
Mr David Kemp 
Ms Julie Wadley 
Ms Donna Vinci 
Ms Lydia Stjepanovic

Capricorn Digital, 
E-Commerce 
and Innovation 
Committee (DEIC)

The purpose of the committee is to give the board 
additional assurance and to assist the board in 
connection with the oversight of and input into the 
company’s digital (including e–commerce), data, 
technology, and technology – related innovation 
strategies.  This committee oversight also includes 
monitoring the mitigation and management of risks 
associated with the above activities.

The committee provides a forum for committee 
members to question and explore relevant matters in 
more depth than it could at a board meeting.

Those appointed as at 
the date of the report:

Ms Donna Vinci (Chair)
Mr Mark Cooper
Mr Mario Pirone
Mr Philip Saxton

Capricorn 
Relationship 
Committee (CRC)

Provides an efficient mechanism for the monitoring 
of and additional assurance regarding the 
appropriateness of transactions of a commercial 
nature between Capricorn and Capricorn Mutual 
Limited (ACN 104 601 194) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively “the Mutual”). The CRC consists of a 
non-member Chair and three other directors. None 
of these directors serves on the board of the Mutual. 
It is convened only when considered necessary by 
members of the CRC or the Capricorn Chair.

Those appointed as at 
the date of the report:

Mr Mario Pirone (Chair)
Mr David Kemp
Mr Phillip Saxton
Ms Donna Vinci
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Role of the Group CEO
The Group CEO’s role is to manage Capricorn’s day to day activities to achieve the agreed vision or “ends” 
under the strategies, policies, programs and parameters set by the board. The Group CEO is the sole point 
of accountability for all authority delegated between the board and the operations of Capricorn.  The board 
delegates to the Group CEO responsibility for implementing its strategic direction/strategic plan while 
complying with the Group CEO delegation/limitations policies as set out in the board charter.

Recommendation 2.2 - Board accountability to members

Capricorn is an unlisted public company limited by shares. The majority of Capricorn’s board is elected from 
within the membership and by the membership (supplemented by a minority of non-member directors) to 
ensure member representation.

Capricorn’s constitution also facilitates accountability by outlining that directors are elected via voting 
rights that in summary allow one vote irrespective of the number of shares issued to that Member. It does 
not allow Capricorn shares to be traded on the open market. The constitution does, however, include 
provisions that facilitate the repurchase of shares by Capricorn and the transfer of shares to other persons. 
It should be noted that the board has the right to decline any transfers if the transferee is not eligible for 
membership amongst other rounds.

Capricorn independent directors and Capricorn senior management are ineligible to own Capricorn shares.

Recommendation 2.3 - Due diligence on board appointments

To ensure that the board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities, it has established guidelines for 
the nomination and selection of directors and for the operation of the board.

Upon the retirement or expiration of their term as a Member director, Capricorn undertakes a formal 
and transparent election procedure within the zone of that Member director, the details of which can 
be found in Capricorn’s constitution.  Before appointing any director, Capricorn ensures that rigorous 
background checks are conducted including reference checks and criminal and credit history searches. 
All board members must also satisfy Capricorn’s own Fit and Proper Person Policy which sets out minimum 
requirements of fitness and propriety to serve as a Capricorn director.

The RNC considers the appointment or re-appointment of an independent director and makes a 
recommendation to the board.

Candidates for a Member director position on the board are required to submit to the Capricorn candidate 
assessment process through which their skills, experience and attributes are assessed by Capricorn against 
the range of skills and competencies relevant to being a director of Capricorn.

The board implemented in 2021 a requirement that unless a candidate can either demonstrate having 
the relevant skills, experience and attributes, or a high degree of potential in respect of them, they are not 
permitted to proceed as a candidate in the election.

Candidates that meet the requirements of the assessment process are provided with an individual rating 
which is disclosed to Members in materials accompanying the ballot papers to better allow Member 
consideration of candidates.
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Recommendation 2.4 - Terms of appointment

All directors appointed to Capricorn receive detailed letters of appointment which sets out matters 
including but not limited to:

• term of appointment;
• time commitment envisaged;
• directors’ powers and duties;
• special duties or arrangements including involvement with committee work;
• circumstances in which an office of director becomes vacant;
• remuneration;
• requirement to disclose directors’ interests and any matters affecting the director’s independence;
• applicable board Code of Conduct (a summary of which Capricorn publishes as part of the Corporate 

Documents section of its website at www.capricorn.coop);
• access to professional advice; and
• confidentiality and access to information.

The name of directors in office as at 30 June 2022, the date they were first appointed, their period in office, 
the commencement and expiry date of their current term are set out in the table below:

Name of DIrectorName of DIrector
Date First Date First 
AppointedAppointed

Period  Period  
of Office***of Office***

Current  Current  
Term Term 

CommencedCommenced
Term  Term  

ExpiresExpires

Maximum term allowed Maximum term allowed 
(in accordance with the (in accordance with the 

CSL constitution)CSL constitution)

Russell Becker ** (^) Sept 2005 16 years 9 months 27/10/2017 Oct 2021 16 years

Bruce Rathie* July 2008 13 years 11 months 12/10/2021 Oct 2024 16 years

Mark Cooper** Oct 2013 8 years 8 months 29/10/ 2021 Oct 2025 12 years 6 months

Mario Pirone* July 2014 8 years 0 months 1/07/2022 June 2026 12 years 6 months

Julie Wadley**(^^) Oct 2014 7 years 8 months 26/10/2018 Oct 2022 12 years 6 months

David Kemp**(^^) Oct 2014 7 years 8 months 26/10/2018 Oct 2022 12 years 6 months

Phillip Saxton** Oct 2015 6 years 8 months 25/10/2018 Oct 2023 12 years 6 months

Peter Stewart** Jan 2016 6 years 5 months 21/10/2020 Oct 2024 12 years 6 months

Donna-Maree Vinci* Aug 2019 2 years 11 months 1/08/2019 July 2023 12 years 6 months

Lydia Stjepanovic** Oct 2021 0 years 8 months 29/10/2021 Oct 2025 12 years 6 months

* Independent Director
** Member Director
*** Period of office as a director of Capricorn Society Ltd as at 30 June 2022 
All directors (being independent directors and Member directors) (together referred to as the CSL 
Directors) have formal letters of appointment.

In accordance with Capricorn Society Ltd's constitution and rules, CSL directors elect the Chair and 
Vice Chair. Mr Mark Cooper is the elected Chair and Mr Mario Pirone is the elected Vice Chair.

The roles of Chair and Group CEO are not exercised by the same person.

(^) Having served his maximum term, Mr Becker retired at the 2021 AGM. 
(^^) Ms Wadley and Mr Kemp will be retiring at the 2022 AGM.
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Recommendation 2.5 - Company Secretary

The Company Secretary’s role is to support the effectiveness of the board and its committees, perform the 
duties and responsibilities of a Company Secretary as required by law and carry out other duties related to 
the corporate administration of Capricorn.

The Company Secretary is accountable to the board, through the board Chair and Group CEO on all 
matters concerning the proper functioning of the board.

The Company Secretary also performs the dual role at Capricorn of General Counsel with responsibilities 
for additional functions as part of that role.

Recommendation 2.6 - Gender and cultural diversity

Capricorn recognises that providing employees with flexibility in how they work is beneficial to employees, 
managers, and Capricorn. As more and more employees want flexible working arrangements, offering that 
flexibility makes Capricorn a destination of choice, allowing the business to attract and retain the best and 
most diverse employees. Flexible working supports our employees manage the challenges of juggling their 
work/life balance in many ways. Employee performance improves by providing people with the right mix 
of working from home and working hours, generating sustained discretionary effort. Working flexibly also 
creates an environment where our leaders learn and adapt to new, creative, and better ways of working 
productively, resulting in longer term, higher quality outcomes for the business.

Capricorn is also very conscious of the creation of a gender pay gap, which can have negative effects on 
the company culture. To this end the business has conducted a comprehensive review of gender pay. 
Pleasingly we determined that we had no systemic issues. We do however recognise the importance of 
supporting our females within the business to develop their careers to bridge the gap Capricorn does have 
with respect to higher male participating rate at leadership levels. This year Capricorn has partnered with 
the National Association of Women in Operation (NAWO) to offer our top female talents a mentoring 
program. This program provides these women with a mentor outside of Capricorn in addition to a NAWO 
membership providing regular education from industry leaders. 

A crucial element of maintaining our ongoing commitment to diversity and inclusion is our D&I committee. 
This committee has been instrumental in celebrating our diverse workforce and championing the education 
of D&I with our team members. Earlier this year Capricorn invited Diversity Australia to educate our leaders 
on the impacts unconscious bias can have both in our work and professional lives. Internal training was then 
led by our managers to further educate all team members. Capricorn also celebrated a number of diversity 
and inclusion dates such as international men’s day, international women’s day and Pride month which 
included a number of guest speakers and educational material.

To emphasise the importance of diversity and inclusion at board level the board in its annual review of 
the board committee charters expanded the scope of the remuneration and nomination committee 
terms of reference to include oversight of any strategies intended to support diversity-related 
objectives. The charter also calls for the board to recommend to the board any policies or practices that 
promote diversity. 

A copy of our WGEA report can also be found at under the Corporate Documents section of its website at 
www.capricorn.coop. The board composition includes longer-serving member directors who have a deeper 
knowledge of Capricorn’s operations and history, and newer directors who bring fresh ideas and inquiry.
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Recommendation 2.7 - Board Performance 

The board through the RNC has a structured process in place to review and evaluate the performance of the 

board, board sub committees and individual directors. 

The board undertakes every 2-3 years a formal review conducted by an independent governance specialist. 

This review will examine the performance of the board the performance of individual directors and the chair. 

The review also considers board composition and skill-set, board decision making and processes and 

information flows. The review has both quantitative and qualitative measures and takes account of the views 

of individual directors. 

The review is conducted with the aim of continuous improvement and results in individual professional 

development plans for each director facilitated by the chair and other specific initiatives based on its findings. 

The review is a key part of how the board reflects on its own performance and its rigour and method is 
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Capricorn recognises that providing employees with flexibility in how they work is beneficial to employees, managers, and 

Capricorn. As more and more employees want flexible working arrangements, offering that flexibility makes Capricorn a 

destination of choice, allowing the business to attract and retain the best and most diverse employees. Flexible working 

supports our employees manage the challenges of juggling their work/life balance in many ways. Employee performance 

improves by providing people with the right mix of working from home and working hours, generating sustained 

discretionary effort. Working flexibly also creates an environment where our leaders learn and adapt to new, creative, and 

better ways of working productively, resulting in longer term, higher quality outcomes for the business. 

Capricorn is also very conscious of the creation of a gender pay gap, which can have negative effects on the company 

culture. To this end the business has conducted a comprehensive review of gender pay. Pleasingly we determined that 

we had no systemic issues. We do however recognise the importance of supporting our females within the business to 

develop their careers to bridge the gap Capricorn does have with respect to higher male participating rate at leadership 

levels. This year Capricorn has partnered with the National Association of Women in Operation (NAWO) to offer our top 

female talents a mentoring program. This program provides these women with a mentor outside of Capricorn in addition 

to a NAWO membership providing regular education from industry leaders.  

A crucial element of maintaining our ongoing commitment to diversity and inclusion is our D&I committee. This 

committee has been instrumental in celebrating our diverse workforce and championing the education of D&I with our 

team members. Earlier this year Capricorn invited Diversity Australia to educate our leaders on the impacts unconscious 

bias can have both in our work and professional lives. Internal training was then led by our managers to further educate 

all team members. Capricorn also celebrated a number of diversity and inclusion dates such as international men’s day, 

international women’s day and Pride month which included a number of guest speakers and educational material. 

To emphasise the importance of diversity and inclusion at board level, the board in its annual review of the board 

committee charters, expanded the scope of the remuneration and nomination committee terms of reference to include 

oversight of any strategies intended to support diversity-related objectives. The charter also calls for the committee to 

recommend to the board any policies or practices that promote diversity.  

A copy of our WGEA report can also be found at under the Corporate Documents section of its website at 

www.capricorn.coop. The board composition includes longer-serving member directors who have a deeper knowledge 

of Capricorn’s operations and history, and newer directors who bring fresh ideas and inquiry. 

Recommendation 2.7 - Board Performance 

The board through the RNC has a structured process in place to review and evaluate the performance of the 

board, board sub committees and individual directors. 

The board undertakes every 2-3 years a formal review conducted by an independent governance specialist. 

This review will examine the performance of the board the performance of individual directors and the chair. 

The review also considers board composition and skill-set, board decision making and processes and 

information flows. The review has both quantitative and qualitative measures and takes account of the views 

of individual directors. 

The review is conducted with the aim of continuous improvement and results in individual professional 

development plans for each director facilitated by the chair and other specific initiatives based on its findings. 

The review is a key part of how the board reflects on its own performance and its rigour and method is 

 

something that the Capricorn board is proud of. 

In any year where the board does not undertake a formal review, an informal review will be carried out by the 

board under the guidance of the chair. 

The board started the process for conducting an independent review during the 2021/22 financial year. The 

results of the review are due to be presented to the board in December 2022.  

Principle 3: Structure the board to add member value 

 

Recommendation 3.1 - Nomination Committee 

The RNC provides an efficient mechanism for the detailed examination of the selection, appointment and 

remuneration practices of Capricorn. For more information see the committee table in this document under 

recommendation 2.1 above. 

Recommendation 3.2 - Board skills matrix 

For Capricorn member directors  

As a cooperative, Capricorn’s constitution requires most of its directors to be Members. A summary of 

Capricorn’s boards skills matrix as outlined that sets out the mix of skills that the board is looking to achieve 

in its membership is outlined in the table below: 

Essential skills and application of business experience and thinking 
Strategic leadership/orientation 

(a) Has strong critical and analytical thinking abilities. 
(b) Is quick to go to the heart of an issue and identify key/salient points and make sense of these in 

terms of company strategy. 
(c) Has a sound understanding of Capricorn's business, its subsidiaries, joint venture partners, 

regulatory environment and the business environment within which Capricorn operates. 
Communication skills 

(a) Is a clear, succinct communicator of ideas, concepts and personal positions. 
(b) Has strong questioning skills and uses these to assist the board to explore ideas and assess the 

veracity of management presentations, reports and recommendations. 
(c) Can suspend judgement in order to understand and consider multiple views/perspectives. 

A CME should have a board that meets the organisation’s minimum requirements, is of an appropriate 
size, diversity and composition, and has the skills and commitment to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities effectively. 
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Relevant business experience/acumen 
(a) Demonstrates a sound understanding of corporate governance and the role and duties of 

directors. 
(b) Demonstrates strong financial literacy. 
(c) Demonstrates sound business judgement. 
(d) Demonstrates an appreciation of stakeholder/Member issues and can manage these in the 

context of company issues and directors’ duties. 

Application of skills and experience and personal attributes 
Boardroom contribution 

(a) Makes a regular, constructive contribution to boardroom dialogue and decision making. 
(b) Makes a positive contribution to the maintenance and furtherance of a productive and 

enjoyable boardroom culture that is characterised by contribution, collaboration, respect, 
patience and support for the chair. 

(c) Demonstrates an accurate and up-to-date knowledge of company strategies and company 
business when engaging in boardroom dialogue. 

Personal attributes 
(a) Demonstrates a high level of personal integrity and honesty. 
(b) Puts in the hours required to fulfil the required duties and expectations. 
(c) Demonstrates overall high personal and professional standards that serve as a model for peers 

and for management. 
(d) Demonstrates a commitment to co-operative values/principles. 

The above skills matrix will be considered as part of the independent board performance review.  

To ensure representation of Capricorn’s broad range of Members, a Member director is appointed by each 

of the geographical zones that Capricorn operates in. 

Capricorn Member directors are democratically elected from its Member base and due to this process are a 

reflection of the mix of skills of that Member base. The candidate assessment process ensures that all 

Member directors have sufficient potential in respect of broad governance skills including strategy, financial 

and risk management as well as demonstrating a high level of commitment to Capricorn. 

Capricorn’s constitution permits up to three independent directors to be appointed by the board. 

Independent directors are chosen to supplement the skills that the board requires. A board learning and 

development plan is in place which addresses board education and training needs and includes a pre-

election governance course and post-election induction program.  

Recommendation 3.3 - Independent and Non-Member Directors 

The independent directors on the board are Mario Pirone, Bruce Rathie and Donna Vinci. 

Capricorn’s directors for some or all of the 2021/22 financial year are introduced here. All board members are 

non-executive directors, meaning they are not involved in the day-to-day management of Capricorn. 

Independent directors may be appointed for such period as directors may decide not exceeding four years. 

Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek 

independent professional advice at Capricorn’s expense. Prior written approval of the chair is required, but 

this will not be unreasonably withheld. The Capricorn constitution allows for three independent directors, 

providing the board with the option to appoint directors who satisfy the BCCM’s independent director 
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Relevant business experience/acumen 
(a) Demonstrates a sound understanding of corporate governance and the role and duties of 

directors. 
(b) Demonstrates strong financial literacy. 
(c) Demonstrates sound business judgement. 
(d) Demonstrates an appreciation of stakeholder/Member issues and can manage these in the 

context of company issues and directors’ duties. 

Application of skills and experience and personal attributes 
Boardroom contribution 

(a) Makes a regular, constructive contribution to boardroom dialogue and decision making. 
(b) Makes a positive contribution to the maintenance and furtherance of a productive and 

enjoyable boardroom culture that is characterised by contribution, collaboration, respect, 
patience and support for the chair. 

(c) Demonstrates an accurate and up-to-date knowledge of company strategies and company 
business when engaging in boardroom dialogue. 

Personal attributes 
(a) Demonstrates a high level of personal integrity and honesty. 
(b) Puts in the hours required to fulfil the required duties and expectations. 
(c) Demonstrates overall high personal and professional standards that serve as a model for peers 

and for management. 
(d) Demonstrates a commitment to co-operative values/principles. 

The above skills matrix will be considered as part of the independent board performance review.  

To ensure representation of Capricorn’s broad range of Members, a Member director is appointed by each 

of the geographical zones that Capricorn operates in. 

Capricorn Member directors are democratically elected from its Member base and due to this process are a 

reflection of the mix of skills of that Member base. The candidate assessment process ensures that all 

Member directors have sufficient potential in respect of broad governance skills including strategy, financial 

and risk management as well as demonstrating a high level of commitment to Capricorn. 

Capricorn’s constitution permits up to three independent directors to be appointed by the board. 

Independent directors are chosen to supplement the skills that the board requires. A board learning and 

development plan is in place which addresses board education and training needs and includes a pre-

election governance course and post-election induction program.  

Recommendation 3.3 - Independent and Non-Member Directors 

The independent directors on the board are Mario Pirone, Bruce Rathie and Donna Vinci. 

Capricorn’s directors for some or all of the 2021/22 financial year are introduced here. All board members are 

non-executive directors, meaning they are not involved in the day-to-day management of Capricorn. 

Independent directors may be appointed for such period as directors may decide not exceeding four years. 

Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek 

independent professional advice at Capricorn’s expense. Prior written approval of the chair is required, but 

this will not be unreasonably withheld. The Capricorn constitution allows for three independent directors, 

providing the board with the option to appoint directors who satisfy the BCCM’s independent director 

 

definition and allowing the board to gain access to special skills or knowledge not already present on the 

board. The non-member directors were selected and appointed based on their relevant skills, knowledge and 

experience. 

Recommendation 3.4 - Member Representation 

Capricorn ensures Member representation through Member directors being elected from six geographic 

zones by Members within those zones. 

The Capricorn constitution states that all Member directors are appointed for a fixed term of four years.  

At the end of their four-year term, Member directors must retire and if they have successfully completed the 

company directors course run by the Australian Institute of Company Directors in their first term, they are 

considered eligible to stand for re-election provided they satisfy all other relevant criteria. Capricorn’s 

constitution provides for maximum director terms so: 

 the maximum service period for directors holding office on the day before the 2012 annual general 

meeting is 16 years and six months; and 

 the maximum service period for directors elected or appointed on or after the 2012 annual general 

meeting is 12 years and 6 months. 

The maximum director term requirements were introduced at Capricorn’s 2012 annual general meeting. The 

Capricorn board considers turnover in board membership healthy for Capricorn. The infusion of new 

perspectives, ideas and energy from each electoral zone is important. Setting maximum director terms 

provides for this healthy turnover and ensures that the board can maintain adequate member representation 

in its governance.  
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Recommendation 3.5 - Role of the Chair 

The board chair is Mr Mark Cooper. Mr Cooper is a non-executive Member director. The chair is responsible 

for leadership of the board, for the efficient organisation and conduct of the board’s function and for briefing 

all directors in relation to issues arising at board meetings. As appropriate, the chair represents the board and 

the organisation to outside parties. 

Capricorn’s constitution also recognises a need for a clear division of responsibility at the head of Capricorn 

and as such prevents the Group CEO from becoming a director, ensuring the roles of chair and Group CEO 

are not to be exercised by the same person. 

Recommendation 3.6 - Induction program for directors 

Each new director undertakes an induction program, appropriate to their experience, to familiarise 

themselves with the operations of Capricorn and its strategy as well as any issues before the board for 

consideration. The induction program includes meetings with the chair, the Group CEO, the respective board 

committees, ELT and the Company Secretary. Once elected Member directors are also required to complete 

the company directors course run by the Australian Institute of Company Directors in their first term if they 

are to seek re-election. 

Principle 4: Act ethically and responsibly 

Recommendation 4.1 - Code of Conduct 

The Capricorn board has established a board charter, a board code of conduct and code of conduct for all 

staff. These codes ensure practices are in place and operating so Members can have confidence in 

Capricorn’s integrity. Capricorn’s accountability mechanisms also ensure the identification and investigation 

of any reports of unethical practices. 

Under each code of conduct, the directors and senior management are expected to: 

• act honestly and in good faith; 

• exercise due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office; 

• use their powers to act in the best interests of the company; 

• avoid conflicts and make full disclosure of any possible conflicts of interest; 

• comply with any applicable laws; 

• be independent in judgment and ensure all reasonable steps are taken to be satisfied as to the 

soundness of board and management decisions; and 

A CME should act ethically and responsibly in relation to its members and other stakeholders. 
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Recommendation 3.5 - Role of the Chair 

The board chair is Mr Mark Cooper. Mr Cooper is a non-executive Member director. The chair is responsible 

for leadership of the board, for the efficient organisation and conduct of the board’s function and for briefing 

all directors in relation to issues arising at board meetings. As appropriate, the chair represents the board and 

the organisation to outside parties. 

Capricorn’s constitution also recognises a need for a clear division of responsibility at the head of Capricorn 

and as such prevents the Group CEO from becoming a director, ensuring the roles of chair and Group CEO 

are not to be exercised by the same person. 

Recommendation 3.6 - Induction program for directors 

Each new director undertakes an induction program, appropriate to their experience, to familiarise 

themselves with the operations of Capricorn and its strategy as well as any issues before the board for 

consideration. The induction program includes meetings with the chair, the Group CEO, the respective board 

committees, ELT and the Company Secretary. Once elected Member directors are also required to complete 

the company directors course run by the Australian Institute of Company Directors in their first term if they 

are to seek re-election. 

Principle 4: Act ethically and responsibly 

Recommendation 4.1 - Code of Conduct 

The Capricorn board has established a board charter, a board code of conduct and code of conduct for all 

staff. These codes ensure practices are in place and operating so Members can have confidence in 

Capricorn’s integrity. Capricorn’s accountability mechanisms also ensure the identification and investigation 

of any reports of unethical practices. 

Under each code of conduct, the directors and senior management are expected to: 

• act honestly and in good faith; 

• exercise due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of office; 

• use their powers to act in the best interests of the company; 

• avoid conflicts and make full disclosure of any possible conflicts of interest; 

• comply with any applicable laws; 

• be independent in judgment and ensure all reasonable steps are taken to be satisfied as to the 

soundness of board and management decisions; and 

A CME should act ethically and responsibly in relation to its members and other stakeholders. 

 

• encourage the reporting and investigation of unlawful and unethical behaviour. 

Capricorn’s commitment to instilling good environmental stewardship and dealing with partners that 

demonstrate a similar ethics is detailed in its staff code of conduct and related policies as captured by its 

modern slavery statement.  This discloses the actions taken to identify and mitigate slavery and human 

trafficking in Capricorn’s business and supply chain for the 2021/22 financial year. Key actions taken include: 

• Modern slavery risk assessment tool used to identify situations where further consideration of a 

supplier’s modern slavery prevention may be required. 

• Modern slavery risk assessment questionnaire created to assist with assessment of modern slavery 

risk in relation to specific suppliers. 

• Modern slavery awareness refresher training and advice offered to all employees involved in the 

engagement of suppliers. 

Appointment and renewal of suppliers involves consideration of the modern slavery risk and contracting on 

terms that support Capricorn’s commitment to the Modern Slavery Act.  

Recommendation 4.2 - Whistleblower protection policy 

In support of Capricorn’s commitment to the highest standards of conduct and ethical behaviour in all of its 

activities and its promotion and support of a culture of honest and ethical behaviour, Capricorn has in place 

a whistleblower policy. The purpose of the policy is to help deter wrongdoing by encouraging disclosure of 

wrongdoing and ensuring that anyone who makes a disclosure can do so safely, securely and with confidence 

that they will be protected and supported. Capricorn has appointed Your Call, an external and independent 

whistleblowing service provider, to receive whistleblower disclosures with impartiality and confidentiality. 

Principle 5: Safeguard integrity in CME reporting 

Recommendation 5.1 - Audit Committee 

The ARC is to report to the board at the next board meeting following each of its meetings. For more 

information see the committee table in this document under recommendation 2.1 above. 

Recommendation 5.2 - Financial Statements 

Capricorn is required to produce and approve financial statements under the Corporations Act 2001, as it is 

a public company incorporated under that act. Consistent with recommendation 5.2., this includes before 

the board approved Capricorn’s financial statements for 2022 the Group CEO and Chief Financial Officer 

certified to the board that, in their opinion: 

A CME should have formal controls and rigorous processes that safeguard its assets, provide 
independent attestations to members of the integrity of its financial processes and disclosures, and can 
demonstrate alignment with purpose. 
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• Capricorn’s financial records have been properly maintained in accordance with the Corporations 

Act; 

• The financial statements and associated notes comply with accounting standards and give a true and 

fair view of Capricorn’s financial position and performance; and 

• The declarations are formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management and internal control 

which is operating effectively. 

In addition to making available to Members required financial statements, Capricorn also reports to Members 

on its “Member Value Return”. This is a measure of the value returned to Members, considering both direct 

and indirect value which may take the form of rewards and rebates as well as Capricorn Service Data, COVID-

19 support, gala dinners and other benefits. 

Recommendation 5.3 - Annual General Meetings and Audits 

Capricorn ensures, as per its own policy, for the lead audit engagement partner to be present at the AGM 

and to answer questions from the shareholders about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 

content of the auditors’ report. 

Capricorn recognises the importance of Member participation at its AGM. Members are encouraged to 

attend and participate. The 2022 AGM will be held in a hybrid format to facilitate participation and will be 

webcast live.  Members have the opportunity to ask questions during the meeting and direct online voting 

allows shareholders who are unable to participate in the AGM to vote on resolutions in advance, without 

needing to appoint a proxy to vote on their behalf. 

Principle 6: Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Recommendation 6.1 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations 

The Capricorn board places considerable importance on effective communications with its Members in their 

capacity as Capricorn shareholders. 

The board, through its continuous disclosure policy and external communications policy, ensures that the 

Member shareholders are informed of all material developments affecting Capricorn’s state of affairs. 

Information is communicated to Capricorn’s shareholders via these means: 

• the Capricorn website, www.capricorn.coop and in particular under the Corporate Documents ; 

• by lodging documents with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission as required by 

law; 

A CME should make timely, transparent and balanced disclosure of all matters concerning it that a 
reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the value received from ongoing 
membership and the interests of members and other stakeholders. 
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• Capricorn’s financial records have been properly maintained in accordance with the Corporations 

Act; 

• The financial statements and associated notes comply with accounting standards and give a true and 

fair view of Capricorn’s financial position and performance; and 

• The declarations are formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management and internal control 

which is operating effectively. 

In addition to making available to Members required financial statements, Capricorn also reports to Members 

on its “Member Value Return”. This is a measure of the value returned to Members, considering both direct 

and indirect value which may take the form of rewards and rebates as well as Capricorn Service Data, COVID-

19 support, gala dinners and other benefits. 

Recommendation 5.3 - Annual General Meetings and Audits 

Capricorn ensures, as per its own policy, for the lead audit engagement partner to be present at the AGM 

and to answer questions from the shareholders about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 

content of the auditors’ report. 

Capricorn recognises the importance of Member participation at its AGM. Members are encouraged to 

attend and participate. The 2022 AGM will be held in a hybrid format to facilitate participation and will be 

webcast live.  Members have the opportunity to ask questions during the meeting and direct online voting 

allows shareholders who are unable to participate in the AGM to vote on resolutions in advance, without 

needing to appoint a proxy to vote on their behalf. 

Principle 6: Make timely and balanced disclosure 

Recommendation 6.1 - Continuous Disclosure Obligations 

The Capricorn board places considerable importance on effective communications with its Members in their 

capacity as Capricorn shareholders. 

The board, through its continuous disclosure policy and external communications policy, ensures that the 

Member shareholders are informed of all material developments affecting Capricorn’s state of affairs. 

Information is communicated to Capricorn’s shareholders via these means: 

• the Capricorn website, www.capricorn.coop and in particular under the Corporate Documents ; 

• by lodging documents with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission as required by 

law; 

A CME should make timely, transparent and balanced disclosure of all matters concerning it that a 
reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the value received from ongoing 
membership and the interests of members and other stakeholders. 
 

 

• events such as the annual gala dinner and the AGM itself; 

• social media channels; and 

• Capricorn’s various publications and e-publications including Ignition and Capchat. 

Capricorn’s detailed Continuous Disclosure Policy sets out Capricorn’s approach to meeting its obligations 

as a disclosing entity under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and records and communicates its commitment 

to do so. Capricorn publishes a summary of its Continuous Disclosure Policy as part of the Corporate 

Documents section of its website at www.capricorn.coop. 

Principle 7: Respect the rights of members and other stakeholders 

Recommendation 7.1 - Member and Stakeholder Communications 

Capricorn ensures that its corporate website www.capricorn.coop contains all relevant details about its 

corporate governance practices including profiles and pictures of directors and the ELT. As outlined above 

in recommendation 6.1 Members also received newsletters and social media updates. Capricorn also 

encourages and permits Members to receive and send communication to Capricorn (and its internal share 

registry team) through electronic means.  

Recommendation 7.2 - Member engagement 

Throughout the year and subject to any government restrictions on attendees related to Covid-19, Capricorn 

holds many local and regional meetings with Members such as member nights and gala dinners to provide 

information on cooperative and industry issues and to facilitate Member engagement. The establishment of 

a framework for social media further provides an opportunity for members to communicate and express their 

view on industry issues.  Capricorn also provides a report on the industry called State of the Nation which 

surveys the attitude of Members to a range of industry related issues and provides an overview of trends and 

challenges. 

Recommendation 7.3 - General Meetings 

Capricorn’s continuous disclosure policy and external communications policy as detailed under 

recommendation 6 of this corporate governance statement, ensures that the Member shareholders are 

informed of all material company developments and are encouraged to participate in the governance of 

Capricorn. This approach follows the cooperative principles promoted by the CME Principles on which 

Capricorn has operated since its inception, especially the principle of democratic Member control. 

In recognition that meetings can be used to promote stronger member engagement Capricorn has 

enshrined in its constitution the ability for all Members to exercise their voting rights through direct voting, 

A CME should respect the rights of its members and other stakeholders by enabling them to  
access information, and where appropriate, education and training to allow them to exercise those  
rights effectively. 
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• events such as the annual gala dinner and the AGM itself; 

• social media channels; and 

• Capricorn’s various publications and e-publications including Ignition and Capchat. 
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in addition to exercising their right to appoint a proxy holder. This ensures the recognition of the views of 

Capricorn’s geographically dispersed membership and additional option improves the ability of Members to 

participate and exercise their votes at meetings of Members. By holding “virtual” or hybrid AGMs Capricorn 

also maximises the potential for Members to attend the meeting regardless of where that Member is located. 

Recommendation 7.4 - Electronic Communications 

Capricorn also encourages and permits Members to receive and send communication to Capricorn (and its 

internal share registry team) through electronic means so that Capricorn can communicate important 

information efficiently. Capricorn’s customer service’s contact details are also provided on our website at 

www.capricorn.coop. 
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Principle 8: Recognise and manage risk 

Recommendation 8.1 - Risk Committee 

The board, through the ARC, must ensure that appropriate risk management processes and systems exist 

within Capricorn. The committee met 5 times throughout the reporting period and was attended by all 

members of the committee. To see committee attendance generally see page 50. The responsibility for 

undertaking and assessing risk management and internal control effectiveness is delegated to management. 

For more information see the see the committee table in this document under recommendation 2.1 above. 

During the year the board reviewed and agreed to minor changes to the policy.  

Recommendation 8.2 - Risk Management Framework 

Risk is inherent in all the corporate activities undertaken by Capricorn and therefore, sound business practice 

and corporate governance standards demand that formal and systematic approaches to risk management 

are incorporated into business activities. Capricorn believes that a consistent and structured approach to risk 

management will improve decision making, performance and accountability. These risk management 

practices also consider the question of organisational sustainability. This framework is represented below. 

 

Capricorn’s goal is not to eliminate risk altogether, rather to manage the risks inevitably involved in the 

activities it undertakes in a conscious and informed manner. The emphasis is to maximise opportunities and 

minimise the impact of negative outcomes. Capricorn will act in accordance with its risk appetite statement 

and conduct all its activities with due regard for the risks. 

  

A CME should establish a sound risk management framework and periodically review the effectiveness of 
that framework in relation to the creation, protection and return of member value. 

 

• events such as the annual gala dinner and the AGM itself; 

• social media channels; and 
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a framework for social media further provides an opportunity for members to communicate and express their 
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Capricorn’s continuous disclosure policy and external communications policy as detailed under 

recommendation 6 of this corporate governance statement, ensures that the Member shareholders are 

informed of all material company developments and are encouraged to participate in the governance of 

Capricorn. This approach follows the cooperative principles promoted by the CME Principles on which 

Capricorn has operated since its inception, especially the principle of democratic Member control. 

In recognition that meetings can be used to promote stronger member engagement Capricorn has 

enshrined in its constitution the ability for all Members to exercise their voting rights through direct voting, 

A CME should respect the rights of its members and other stakeholders by enabling them to  
access information, and where appropriate, education and training to allow them to exercise those  
rights effectively. 
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International Standards on Risk Management and Risk Assessment, (ISO 31000 and ISO 31010), provide a 

generic guide to assist in the establishment and implementation of the risk management process within an 

organisation. Capricorn has developed and implemented its risk management framework to follow these 

international standards.  

The objectives of the Capricorn risk management process are: 

• continuously identify and measure risks that might impact upon the achievement of Capricorn’s 

goals and objectives; 

• monitor the external environment for emerging factors and trends that affect the identified risks; 

• manage risks within Capricorn in a conscious and informed manner and within acceptable 

tolerances; 

• ensure that risk management is incorporated into the corporate governance and management 

systems, including through ongoing monitoring; 

• ensure that significant risks within Capricorn are identified and that strategies are in place to manage 

the identified risks; 

• encourage proactive management and individual accountability; 

• establish a reliable basis for decision making and planning; 

• improve organisational resilience; and 

• provide assurance that the objectives of Capricorn will be met. 

Comprehensive practices are in place directed towards achieving these objectives: 

• effective and efficient use of Capricorn’s resources; 

• compliance with applicable laws and regulations; and 

• preparation of reliable financial information for publication. 

Internal control framework 

The board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework but recognises that 

no cost-effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities. To assist in discharging this 

responsibility, the board has instigated an internal control framework designed to safeguard Capricorn’s 

assets and interests and to ensure the integrity of reporting. The internal control framework can be 

summarised:  
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Financial reporting 

Capricorn has a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the directors. Monthly 

actual results are reported against budget and revised forecasts for the year are prepared regularly. 

Certification is provided regarding the Annual Report by the Group CEO and Chief Financial Officer as 

detailed in recommendation 5 of this corporate governance statement; 
 
Functional speciality reporting 

Capricorn has identified several key areas subject to regular reporting to the board, such as technology, 

treasury, legal (with particular emphasis on competition and consumer law), insurance and work health and 

safety matters;  

Investment appraisal 

Capricorn has clearly defined guidelines for capital expenditure and investments. These include capital 

expenditure annual budgets, appraisal and review procedures and levels of authority as well as an investment 

policy with benchmarks. 

Recommendation 8.3 - Internal Audit 

Capricorn has an internal audit framework also called the third line of accountability to provide systematic 

and objective appraisal by internal audit of the operations, systems and controls within Capricorn. 

Capricorn supports the independence of the internal audit function, which enables the internal audit 

function to render impartial and unbiased judgements essential to the proper conduct of audits. The internal 

audit function has independent organisational status and is not involved in day-to-day operations of the 

business. The internal audit function have the right of direct access to the Group Chief Executive Officer and 

members of the ARC or other appropriate body of Capricorn as circumstances determine. Internal audit 

provides regular progress reports to the ARC summarising all audit activities undertaken during the period 

since the last report and progress against the annual audit plan. 

As part of its ongoing focus on corporate governance the board through the audit & risk committee reviewed the 

internal audit policy and made changes that it considered appropriate.  

Principle 9: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Recommendation 9.1 - Remuneration Committee 

The Capricorn board through the RNC has a process in place to review the remuneration of the board, Group 

CEO and ELT to ensure due process, appropriate performance evaluation and a review of empirical market 

A CME should pay director remuneration sufficient to attract and retain high quality member and 
independent directors and design its executive remuneration to attract, retain and motivate high quality 
senior executives and employees and to align their interests with the creation of value for members and  
other stakeholders. 
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• Group CEO remuneration and incentive policies; 

• Capricorn’s recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures for senior executives; 

and 

• board remuneration framework. 

Capricorn periodically engages Korn Ferry, a global management consulting firm to provide expert counsel 

and opinion on remuneration matters. Capricorn uses discrete consultants with appropriate separation to 

advise the board versus management so as to maintain the integrity and independence of the opinion 

received. Management through the Group CEO and the General Manager People & Culture also works with 

Korn Ferry, as needed, to assist with remuneration matters not involving the executive. Management has also 

engaged and used Gallup to conduct periodic employee engagement surveys. 

Recommendation 9.2 - Remuneration Policy 

The board has established policies in relation to the remuneration of directors and senior executives, as 

follows: 

Directors 

Directors will be paid fees generally in the range of the 50th to 75th percentile of the market average based 

on advice from an independent advisor. Statutory superannuation will be paid in addition to these fees. The 

last external review of director fees was conducted in June 2021. 

Remuneration of directors has been included in Note 15 of the Financial Statements. 

Group CEO & ELT 

Remuneration packages are set to be competitive to both retain the Group CEO/executives and attract 

experienced Group CEO/executives to Capricorn and are benchmarked against market rates extracted from 

multiple sources of empirical remuneration evidence provided by independent sources. The packages 

comprise of a fixed cash element and variable incentive components.  

The variable components will depend upon the performance of Capricorn and personal performance of the 

individual concerned. Every 2 – 3 years an independent firm is engaged to review the positions and assess the 

salaries paid to the Group CEO and the ELT of Capricorn to ensure that they remain relative to market 

remuneration benchmarks. The last formal review was conducted in 2021. In any interim period, the Group 

CEO and executive positions are remunerated in accordance with applicable remuneration bands for their 

position as assessed, as described under the heading below “Use of Benchmarks”. 

Remuneration of key management personnel has been included in Note 15 of the Financial Statements. 

Alignment of remuneration policy 

Capricorn’s remuneration policy has as its core objective to attract and retain key talent who have the 

 

requisite skills and capabilities to drive business performance and deliver strategic outcomes. Individuals are 

remunerated commensurate with internal job evaluations, median market benchmarks and performance 

achievements.   
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Mix of base and incentive pay 

Capricorn provides at risk incentive components for positions to assist with the development of desired 

behaviours which drive business growth and achievement of strategic objectives. Such incentives are 

captured in annual short-term incentive schemes which provide specific performance criteria and metrics 

which must be met to be rewarded. These are reviewed annually to ensure their competitiveness and 

alignment with the delivery of strategy. Capricorn does not provide equity-based remuneration to its 

directors or executive. 

Use of benchmarks 

Korn Ferry undertakes an independent evaluation of each executive position determining its relative ranking 

against predetermined criteria, which is updated as a position changes in scope and accountabilities. Every 

two to three years, Hay Group undertakes a market remuneration analysis of like ranked positions and makes 

recommendations on the total annual reward for each position which are used in the absence of specific 

formal review by position. Performance plans and metrics are documented on an annual basis for each 

executive in conjunction with the Group CEO, which are linked to the achievement of strategic objectives. 

Such objectives are formally reviewed by the Group CEO on a quarterly basis to ensure on target outcomes. 

The board undertakes a similar exercise with the Group CEO. 

Employment contracts 

Capricorn has written employment contracts in place for the Group CEO and each executive providing a 

mechanism for bringing the employment relationship to an end with specified notice periods, which are 

consistent with industry benchmarks. There is a formal performance management system in place to assist in 

working with an underperforming executive and internal human resource professionals available to oversee 

the process and outcomes. 
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Your directors present their report on the company and 

its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 

June 2022. 

1. General information 

Directors 

The directors of Capricorn Society Limited ('Capricorn' 

or the ‘Group’) at any time during, or since the end of, 

the year are: 

Names  

Mark Cooper (Chair) 

Mario Pirone (Vice Chair) 

Philip Saxton (Member Director) 

Julie Wadley (Member Director) 

David Kemp (Member Director) 

Peter Stewart (Member Director)  

Bruce Rathie (Independent Director) 

Donna Vinci (Independent Director) 

Lydia Stjepanovic (Member Director – appointed 

October 2021)  

Russell Becker (Member Director – retired October 

2021) 

The qualifications and experience of the directors and 

the Company Secretary has been set out in pages 10 to 

13 of the Annual Report. 

Principal activity 

The principal activity of the Group during the financial 

year was the operation of an automotive parts and 

accessories buying company operating along 

cooperative principles. The Group provides trade 

account credit to Members who operate within the 

Automotive aftermarket industry. Subsidiary entities 

provide travel, business risk services including the 

management of the Mutual, financial services and 

technology services. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of 

the Group's principal activities during the financial year. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial report is a general purpose financial 

report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian 

Accounting Standards and other authoritative 

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board. 

The financial report also complies with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial report has been prepared on a historical 

cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss and investment properties which 

have been measured at fair value. Cost is based on the 

fair values of the consideration given in exchange for 

assets. 

2. Business review 

Operating results 

The consolidated profit of the Group after providing for 

income tax amounted to $17,387,000 (2021: 

$37,558,000). The profit of the parent entity was 

$15,286,000 (2021: $35,365,000). 

Dividends paid or recommended 

Dividends paid on contributed equity for the year 

ended 30 June 2022 are as follows: 

Fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per share 

$12,471,000 declared and paid September 2021. 

Operating and financial review 

The consolidated profit of the Group for the year after 

providing for income tax amounted to $17,387,000 

(2021: $37,558,000). 

Total purchases by Members from continuing 

operations of Capricorn increased to $2,930,206,000 

being 13% higher than last year (2021: 

$2,590,858,000). Net collections were $137,499,000 

(2021: $122,743,000), an increase of 12%. 

In 2022 Members have benefited from $43,352,000 
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(2021: $38,489,000) in Reward Points. No Member 

Trading Rebate was declared during the year in relation 

to 2022 purchases from Preferred Suppliers (2021: 

$15,099,000,000). Members also receive: 

o the Capricorn Purple Pages – a comprehensive 

directory of suppliers and products available to 

Capricorn Members; 

o access to one of Australasia’s most generous 

rewards program, earning Members 1.5 Capricorn 

Rewards points for every $1 spent on eligible 

purchases on their Capricorn Trade Account; 

o free access to Capricorn Service Data, providing 

Members with online service information covering 

thousands of vehicles; 

o free access to Caphub, a content portal keeping 

Members updated on all things Capricorn, news, 

workshop hacks and business tips; 

o invitations to exclusive industry events – including 

gala dinners, golf days, bbqs, tradeshows and the 

popular Capricorn International Convention; and  

o access to AutoBoost, providing a range of free and 

paid online tools to help them better run their 

businesses. 

The board has maintained a conservative investment 

strategy recognising volatility in capital markets and as 

such has retained significant cash reserves during the 

year ended 30 June 2022. 

The investment property at Welshpool Road, 

Welshpool was tenanted throughout the year until it 

was sold on 21 March 2022 for $2,100,000. In 2022 the 

Group’s investment income on its share portfolio 

recorded an unrealised loss of $14,655,000, following 

an unrealised gain of $11,664,000 in 2021. Global 

markets experienced significant declines in the first half 

of 2022 and continue to experience significant 

volatility. 

Capricorn’s strategic plan is to drive profitable growth 

in Capricorn’s principal business activities. 

In the short to medium term, Capricorn continues to 

recognise technology as a key enabler to support its 

business strategy and objectives. This is a constant 

challenge in the ever-changing digital landscape of 

today’s business world and Capricorn is looking to 

expand the current limited choice of digital interactions 

for its Members and Suppliers. 

Development of a digital platform will leverage existing 

assets and add new capability that will deliver value 

through easier integration with partners, improve the 

Member and Supplier experience and facilitate exciting 

new future projects and programs. 

Capricorn has and will continue to identify and assess 

potential diversification opportunities that may allow it 

to leverage its current resources and capabilities to 

both reduce overall risk through diversification and 

improve returns to Members. To this end Capricorn will 

be adding an additional member to its Executive 

Leadership Team to be in charge of innovation and 

strategic planning. 

No options to shares in the Company have been 

granted during the financial year and there were no 

options outstanding at the end of the financial year. 

Rounding 

The amounts contained in this report and in the 

financial report have been rounded to the nearest 

$1,000 (unless otherwise stated) and where noted 

($’000) under the option available to the Company 

under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 

Financial/Directors Report) Instrument 2016/191. The 

Company is an entity to which the instrument applies. 

3. Other items 

Significant change in state of affairs 

There has been no significant change in the state of 

affairs of the Group during the financial year. 

Auditor's independence declaration 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires 

our auditors Ernst & Young, to provide the directors of 

the Company with an Independence Declaration in 

relation to the audit of the financial report. This 

declaration is set out on page 53 and forms part of this 

directors' report for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Non-audit services 

The following non-audit services were provided by the 

entity’s auditor, EY Australia. The directors are satisfied 

that the provision of non-audit services is compatible 
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declaration is set out on page 53 and forms part of this 

directors' report for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Non-audit services 

The following non-audit services were provided by the 

entity’s auditor, EY Australia. The directors are satisfied 

that the provision of non-audit services is compatible 
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with the general standard of independence for auditors 

imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and 

scope of each type of non-audit service provided 

means that audit independence was not compromised. 

EY has received, or are due to receive, the following 

amounts for the provision of non-audit services: 

Tax compliance and advisory services: $82,924.
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Events after the end of the reporting period 

Declaration of dividend and rebate 

At the meeting on 7th September 2022 the Capricorn Society Limited board declared a dividend of 5 cents per share. 

This will be fully franked in Australia, equating to a gross dividend yield of 7.1% of contributed equity at 30 June 2022, and 

partially franked in New Zealand. 

All subsequent references to gross dividend are calculated on the basis that full franking credits are available. 

These dividends deliver to shareholders a payment of $9,900,000 (June 2021: $12,458,000) and franked tax credits 

totalling $4,243,000 (June 2021: $5,339,000), giving a gross dividend of $14,143,000 (June 2021: $17,797,000). 

The Capricorn Society Limited board also resolved to pay a rebate of $15,000,000 to Members on purchases made 

during the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The rebate will be payable to both Australian and New Zealand Members via additional reward points. 

Information on Directors 

Information relating to the experience, qualifications and other details on the directors is set out on pages 10 to 13 of the 

annual report  

Directors' interests at the date of this report 
 2022 2021 
 No. of Shares No. of Shares 

Shareholding of Directors  

Mark Cooper 329,042 275,718 

Russell Becker1 - 157,082 

Julie Wadley 350,000 282,962 

David Kemp 47,942 36,585 

Philip Saxton 143,927 128,791 

Peter Stewart 203,264 176,215 

Lydia Stjepanovic 16,074 10,350 

Total 1,090,249 1,067,703 

1Russell Becker retired from the board on 29 October 2021. 

Independent directors (being Mr Mario Pirone, Mr Bruce Rathie and Ms Donna Vinci) cannot own shares in Capricorn 

Society Limited. 
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Movements in the relevant interests of each director in the share capital of the Company up to the date of this report are 

as follows: 

2022 

 

2021 

Balance 

Dividend 

Reinvested in 

Shares 

Shares 

Purchased Shares Sold 

2022 

Balance 

 
No. No. No. No. No. 

      

Mark Cooper 275,718 19,300 34,024 - 329,042 

Julie Wadley 282,962 19,807 47,231 - 350,000 

David Kemp 36,585 2,561 8,796 - 47,942 

Philip Saxton 128,791 9,016 6,120 - 143,927 

Peter Stewart 176,215 12,335 14,714 - 203,264 

Lydia Stjepanovic 10,350 724 5,000 - 16,074 

Total 910,621 63,743 115,885 - 1,090,249 

 

2021 

 

2020 

Balance 

Dividend 

Reinvested in 

Shares 

Shares 

Purchased Shares Sold 

2021 

Balance 

 
No. No. No. No. No. 

      

Mark Cooper 257,681 18,037 - - 275,718 

Russell Becker 142,133 9,949 5,000 - 157,082 

Julie Wadley 191,945 13,436 77,581 - 282,962 

David Kemp 29,441 2,061 5,083 - 36,585 

Philip Saxton 111,021 7,770 10,000 - 128,791 

Peter Stewart 154,987 10,849 10,379 - 176,215 

Total 887,208 62,102 108,043 - 1,057,353 
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Directors’ meetings 

The number of directors' meetings (including meetings of committees of directors held) and number of meetings 

attended by each of the directors during the financial year were: 

 Directors' Meetings 
Audit & Risk Committee 

Meetings 

Remuneration & 

Nomination Committee 

Meetings 

Digital, e-Commerce & 

Innovation Committee 

Meetings 

 
Eligible to 

attend 

Number 

attended 

Eligible to 

attend 

Number 

attended 

Eligible to 

attend 

Number 

attended 

Eligible to 

attend 

Number 

attended 

 No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. 

Mark Cooper 

(Chair) 
6 6 0 0 5 5 3 3 

Mario Pirone 

(Vice Chair) 
6 6 1 1 4 4 3 3 

Russell Becker 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 

Julie Wadley 6 6 6 5 0 0 0 0 

David Kemp 6 6 6 6 0 0 0 0 

Philip Saxton 6 6 0 0 5 5 3 3 

Peter Stewart 6 6 0 0 5 5 0 0 

Bruce Rathie 6 6 6 6 0 0 0 0 

Donna Vinci 6 6 6 6 0 0 3 3 

Lydia Stjepanovic 5 5 5 5 0 0 0 0 

Directors can be invited to attend committee meetings as a guest. 

The Group/Mutual relationship committee is convened only when considered necessary by members of the committee 

or the Company chair, see page 28. The committee did not meet during the 2022 financial year.  

 
Committee membership 

As at the date of this report, the Company had an audit & risk committee, a remuneration and nomination committee, a 

digital, e-commerce and innovation committee and a Capricorn relationship committee of the board of directors. Details 

about the committees are set out in the corporate governance statement of this annual report. 
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4. Environmental legislation 

The Group is not subject to any significant 

environmental legislation. 

5. Insurance premiums 

During the financial year, Capricorn has paid insurance 

premiums in respect of its directors, executive officers 

and secretaries and those of its subsidiaries under the 

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (“CA”). The insurance 

premiums relate to: 

• costs and expenses incurred by the relevant 

officer in defending proceedings; and 

• other liabilities that may arise from their 

position, with the exception of conduct 

involving a wilful breach of duty or improper 

use of information or position to gain a 

personal advantage or any other liability that 

Capricorn is prohibited at law from paying an 

insurance premium in respect of. 

The contract prohibits disclosure of the nature of the 

liabilities and the amount of the premium. 

6. Indemnification and deeds of insurance 

and indemnity 

Capricorn has entered into standard deeds of access, 

insurance and indemnity with its officers (including 

directors) as well as the current Group Chief Executive 

Officer and current key management personnel. The 

principal provisions of the Capricorn deeds, subject to 

the terms above, relate to: 

• the granting of certain indemnities in favour of 

the directors or other officers referred to 

above in respect of liability which they incur as 

an officer of Capricorn or a related body 

corporate or as otherwise referred to above, 

except where the liability arises out of conduct 

involving a lack of good faith or 

indemnification is otherwise not permitted 

under the CA; 

• the provision of access to board papers 

according to context; and 

 

• an undertaking to maintain and, to the extent 

permitted by law, pay the premiums on an  

 

 

 

insurance policy which insures directors and 

the other officers referred to above against 

liability incurred as an officer of Capricorn or a 

related body corporate (except liability arising 

out of a wilful breach of duty or breach of 

certain provisions of the Corporations Act 

2001). 

During their term of office or eligible appointment 

period and: 

• for 7 years thereafter (“7 Year Period”); or 

• where an action, or an inquiry or hearing of a 

Government Agency that the officer is or has a 

reasonable prospect of being required to 

appear before, is commenced or threatened 

prior to the expiry of the 7 Year Period or the 

date of final determination or abandonment of 

the action, including any appeals, or the date 

of final completion of the inquiry or hearing (as 

the case may be), whichever last occurs. 

Indemnification of auditors 

To the extent permitted by law, the Group has agreed 

to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the 

terms of its audit engagement agreement against 

claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an 

unspecified amount). No payment has been made to 

indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial 

year. 
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This report is made and signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf 

of the directors by: 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Mark Cooper 
Director 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Bruce Rathie 
Director 

Dated this 7th day of September 2022 

 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Ernst & Young 
11 Mounts Bay Road 
Perth  WA  6000  Australia 
GPO Box M939   Perth  WA  6843 

 Tel: +61 8 9429 2222 
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of  
Capricorn Society Limited  

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Capricorn Society Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2022, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit;  

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Capricorn Society Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
financial year. 
 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
Timothy G Dachs 
Partner 
7 September 2022 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022  
 

 
 

2022 2021 
 Note $'000 $'000 
    

Revenue from contracts with customers 2(a) 43,147 35,477 

Trade account revenue calculated using the effective interest rate 

method 
 94,147 84,255 

Other interest revenue 2(b) 8,039 6,790 

Other income 2(b) 1,793 1,519 

Total revenue  147,126 128,041 
    

Other operating income 2(c) 5,251 13,502 

    

Expenses    

Employee benefit expense 2(d) (52,942) (48,186) 

Member trade rebate 2(e) (15,100) - 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (5,395) (5,468) 

Marketing and advertising costs  (2,087) (1,626) 

Other expenses 2(g) (52,707) (32,771) 

Total expenses  (128,231) (88,051) 

    

Profit before tax   24,146 53,492 

Income tax expense 3(a) (6,759) (15,934) 

    

Profit after tax for the year  17,387 37,558 

    

    

Profit attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  17,387 37,558 
  17,387 37,558 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2022  
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.  

 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 
 
 

 
 

2022 2021 
 Note $'000 $'000 

    

Profit after tax for the year  17,387 37,558 

    

Other comprehensive income:    
    

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods: 
 

  
 

Exchange differences on translating foreign controlled entities 16(b) (967) (105) 

    

Other comprehensive loss for the year net of tax  (967) (105) 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year  16,420 37,453 
    
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Members of the parent entity  16,420 37,453 
  16,420 37,453 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2022 
 

  2022 2021 
 Note $'000 $'000 
Assets    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 5 90,222 103,142 
Trade account advances and equipment loans  4 299,438 265,300 
Other current assets 12 3,619 2,562 
Inventories 6 3,725 - 

Total current assets  397,004 371,004 
    
Non-current assets    

Equipment loans 4 14,703 13,026 
Financial assets 18 151,291 116,007 
Investment properties 8 - 3,655 
Right of use assets 13 2,019 2,058 
Intangibles 9 8,886 11,705 
Property, plant and equipment 10 15,563 15,893 
Deferred tax assets 3(f) 24,467 16,607 

Total non-current assets  216,929 178,951 
    
Total assets  613,933 549,955 
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 14 220,312 194,366 
Reward Points liability 2(f) 82,112 68,282 
Lease liabilities 13 1,111 1,190 
Current tax liabilities 3(e) 6,332 8,423 
Employee benefits 15 3,980 3,893 

Total current liabilities  313,847 276,154 
    
Non-current liabilities    

Lease liabilities 13 974 937 
Employee benefits 15 1,372 1,198 

Total non-current liabilities  2,346 2,135 
    
Total liabilities  316,193 278,289 
    
Net assets  297,740 271,666 
    
Equity    

Issued capital 16(a) 197,245 175,120 
Reserves 16(b) 1,098 2,065 
Retained earnings 16(c) 99,397 94,481 
Parent interest  297,740 271,666 

Total equity  297,740 271,666 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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As at 30 June 2022 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

2022 

 
Share 

Capital 
Retained 
Earnings 

Foreign 
Currency 

Reserve Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2021 175,120 94,481 2,065 271,666 

Profit for the period - 17,387 - 17,387 

Other comprehensive income 16(b) - - (967) (967) 

Total comprehensive income - 17,387 (967) 16,420 

Shares issued during the year 16(a) 30,253 - - 30,253 

Shares bought back during the year 16(a) (8,128) - - (8,128) 

Dividends paid during the year 16(d) - (12,471) - (12,471) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 197,245 99,397 1,098 297,740 

 
 
2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 

Balance at 1 July 2020 154,527 56,925 2,170 213,622 

Profit for the period - 37,558 - 37,558 

Other comprehensive income 16(b) - - (105) (105) 

Total comprehensive income - 37,558 (105) 37,453 

Shares issued during the year 16(a) 27,821 - - 27,821 

Shares bought back during the year 16(a) (7,228) - - (7,228) 

Dividends paid during the year 16(d) - (2) - (2) 

Balance at 30 June 2021 175,120 94,481 2,065 271,666 

59Capricorn Society • Annual Report 2022



 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 
  2022 2021 
 Notes $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities:    

Receipts from Members  2,852,436 2,520,397 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,862,345) (2,521,260) 

Management fees received  26,222 21,974 

Other income received  20,723 16,466 

Interest received   245 335 

Investment income received  3,926 1,785 

Taxes paid  (16,708) (11,438) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 5(e) 24,499 28,259 
    

Cash flows from investing activities:    

Purchase of property plant and equipment  (623) (481) 

Purchase of intangible assets  - (467) 

Purchase of investments  (63,036) (67,545) 

Proceeds from disposal of investments  13,020 21,500 

Proceeds from disposal of investment property  2,100 - 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (48,539) (46,993) 
    

Cash flows from financing activities:    

Proceeds from issue of shares  18,809 17,478 

Buy-back of shares  (5,280) (4,360) 

Dividends paid by parent entity  (565) (441) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (877) (1,988) 

Net cash from financing activities  12,087 10,689 
    

Net (decrease) in cash held  (11,953) (8,045) 
    

Cash at beginning of financial year  103,142 111,292 

Effect of exchange rates changes on the balance of cash held in 

foreign currencies 
 (967) (105) 

Cash at end of financial year 5(d) 90,222 103,142 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 
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Repayment of lease liabilities  (877) (1,988) 

Net cash from financing activities  12,087 10,689 
    

Net (decrease) in cash held  (11,953) (8,045) 
    

Cash at beginning of financial year  103,142 111,292 

Effect of exchange rates changes on the balance of cash held in 

foreign currencies 
 (967) (105) 

Cash at end of financial year 5(d) 90,222 103,142 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

1 Accounting policies 

(a) Corporate information 

The consolidated financial statements of Capricorn Society Limited (the “Parent”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 

“Consolidated Entity” or “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2022 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 

resolution of the directors on 7th September 2022. 

The Parent is a non-listed public company, incorporated in Australia and operating in Australia and New Zealand. The 

principal activity of the Group during the financial year was the operation of an automotive parts and accessories buying 

company operating along cooperative principles. The Group provides trade account credit to Members who operate 

within the Automotive aftermarket industry. Other entities provide travel, business risk services including the 

management of the Mutual, financial services and technology services.  

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 

of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, investment properties which have been measured at fair value and inventory which has been measured at 

net realisable. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

The Parent has determined for the purposes of preparing the financial statements it is a for-profit entity. 

(c) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Capricorn Society Limited and its 

subsidiaries as at 30 June each year.  

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent, using consistent 

accounting policies.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses 

and profit or losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(c)   Principles of consolidation (continued) 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

subsidiaries and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiaries. Specifically, the Group 

controls a subsidiary if and only if the Group has: 

• power over the subsidiary (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the subsidiary), 

• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary, and 

• the ability to use its power over the subsidiary to affect its returns.  

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of a subsidiary, the Group considers all relevant 

facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over a subsidiary, including:  

• the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, 

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and 

• the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Parent re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 

over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 

a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

and the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases 

to control the subsidiary. 

Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 

interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred.  

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and 

are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and within equity in the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Position. Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit 

balance. 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 

equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of 

the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between 

the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within 

equity attributable to owners of the parent entity. 

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 

remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial 

carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint controlled 

entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 

that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that 

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
(c)   Principles of consolidation (continued) 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

subsidiaries and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiaries. Specifically, the Group 

controls a subsidiary if and only if the Group has: 

• power over the subsidiary (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the subsidiary), 

• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary, and 

• the ability to use its power over the subsidiary to affect its returns.  

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of a subsidiary, the Group considers all relevant 

facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over a subsidiary, including:  

• the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, 

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and 

• the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Parent re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 

to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 

over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 

a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

and the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases 

to control the subsidiary. 

Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 

interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred.  

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and 

are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and within equity in the Consolidated 

Statement of Financial Position. Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit 

balance. 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 

equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of 

the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between 

the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within 

equity attributable to owners of the parent entity. 

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 

remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial 

carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint controlled 

entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 

that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that 

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of each of the Group's entities is determined using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars 

which is the parent entity's functional currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the spot rate at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate.  

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation 

of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value 

of the item. 

Group companies 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the rate of 

exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated using the average exchange 

rates prevailing during the period. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in 

other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 

relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss. 

(e) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

New and amended standards and interpretations  

Since 1 July 2021, the Group has adopted all Accounting Standards and Interpretations effective from 1 July 2021. Other 

than the changes described below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial 

year. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not 

yet effective. 

Several new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations applied for the first time from 1 July 2021, but did 

not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group and, hence, have not been disclosed. 

 
Reclassification of comparatives 

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the following reclassifications occurred: 

The Group has reclassified the merchandise income and expense arisen from the redemption of reward points 

amounting to $10,878,000 and $10,915,000 respectively as revenue from contracts with customers and merchandise 

expense, and not netted off as marketing and advertising costs, with no impact on measurement. The re-classification 

occurred as a result of continued consideration of the terms and conditions of the reward points program in place and 

the determination that the Group acts as a principal under the arrangement. Prior period comparatives have been 

reclassified to enable comparability.  
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Critical accounting estimates and judgments  

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and accompanying 

disclosures, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 

in outcomes that requires a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities. The key 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 

assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of 

revenue from contracts with customers: 

The Group sells advertising space in its publications to Preferred Suppliers and recognises the revenue arising from these 

contracts with customers at the point in time upon the fulfilment of the single performance obligation, being the point 

when the associated publication is issued. The Group applied judgement in assessing the performance obligations and 

the timing of the fulfilment of the performance obligations under the contract. 

The Group provides administration and support services to Capricorn Mutual Limited under a service contract. The 

Group also provides insurance broking services for which it receives fees and commission. The Group exercised 

judgement in determining the performance obligations and the timing of the fulfilment of the performance obligations 

under the contract. The Group applied judgement in determining the fulfilment of the performance obligations occurs 

over the time for the duration of the service contract and at a point in time for the insurance broking contract. 

The Group earns merchandise income when Members redeem reward points for merchandise or gift cards from a third 

party under the Group’s loyalty Reward Points programme. The Group applied judgement in assessing the performance 

obligations and the timing of the fulfilment of the performance obligations at a point in time under the terms of the 

loyalty Reward Points programme. 

Principal versus agent considerations 

The Group applied judgment in determining that the Group acts as an agent in providing IT, administration and support 

services to Capricorn Mutual, insurance broking services and travel booking services to Members because the Group 

does not have the primary responsibility to provide the underlying risk protection or travel to the customer. 

 

 

 

  

64 Capricorn Society • Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Critical accounting estimates and judgments  

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and accompanying 

disclosures, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 

in outcomes that requires a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities. The key 

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 

assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing of 

revenue from contracts with customers: 

The Group sells advertising space in its publications to Preferred Suppliers and recognises the revenue arising from these 

contracts with customers at the point in time upon the fulfilment of the single performance obligation, being the point 

when the associated publication is issued. The Group applied judgement in assessing the performance obligations and 

the timing of the fulfilment of the performance obligations under the contract. 

The Group provides administration and support services to Capricorn Mutual Limited under a service contract. The 

Group also provides insurance broking services for which it receives fees and commission. The Group exercised 

judgement in determining the performance obligations and the timing of the fulfilment of the performance obligations 

under the contract. The Group applied judgement in determining the fulfilment of the performance obligations occurs 

over the time for the duration of the service contract and at a point in time for the insurance broking contract. 

The Group earns merchandise income when Members redeem reward points for merchandise or gift cards from a third 

party under the Group’s loyalty Reward Points programme. The Group applied judgement in assessing the performance 

obligations and the timing of the fulfilment of the performance obligations at a point in time under the terms of the 

loyalty Reward Points programme. 

Principal versus agent considerations 

The Group applied judgment in determining that the Group acts as an agent in providing IT, administration and support 

services to Capricorn Mutual, insurance broking services and travel booking services to Members because the Group 

does not have the primary responsibility to provide the underlying risk protection or travel to the customer. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

Non-consolidation of Capricorn Mutual Limited 

Capricorn Society Limited board considers that the relationship between Capricorn Society Limited and the Mutual is 

that of an agent and hence the Group does not control the Mutual and is not required to consolidate the Mutual. The 

Group assesses the circumstances at each reporting date to determine whether the Group has control over the Mutual. 

See note 20. 

Leases 

In determining whether the Group’s contracts contain, or are, leases, management must use judgment in assessing 

whether the contract provides the customer with the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of 

the asset during the lease term and whether the customer obtains the right to direct the use of the asset during the lease 

term. For those agreements considered to contain, or be, leases, further judgment is required to determine the lease 

term by assessing whether termination or extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised.  

For leases where the Group is a lessor, judgment is required to determine if substantially all of the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer or remain with the Group, to appropriately account for the 

agreement as either a finance or operating lease. These judgements can be significant and impact how the Group 

classifies amounts related to the arrangement as either PP&E or as a finance lease receivable on the consolidated 

statement of financial position, and therefore the amount of certain items of revenue and expense is dependent upon 

such classifications. 

 

Estimates and Assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the 

consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, 

however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such 

changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Determination of fair value 

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. Senior finance 

management has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements and reports directly to the 

Chief Financial Officer. Senior finance management will apply judgment in determining how the Group’s financial assets 

and liabilities measured at fair value are categorised within the fair value hierarchy. 

If third party information is used to measure fair values, then senior finance management assesses the evidence obtained 

from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of the Accounting 

Standards, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations are classified. Significant valuation issues 

are reported to the Group’s audit & risk committee.  
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair 

values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 

as disclosed in Note 18. 

Income taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses 

can be utilised. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 

recognised, based on the likely timing and the level of future taxable profit along with future tax planning 

strategies. Management considers forecast future taxable income over a 5-year horizon and performs stress testing of 

budgets to ensure DTA recoverability is appropriate. Deferred tax assets are not recognised where utilisation is not 

considered probable.  

Provision for expected credit loss (ECL) on trade account advance 

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade account advances. The provision rates are based on days 

past due and customer type and rating. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group calibrates the matrix to 

adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information based on forecast economic conditions, at 

each reporting date. The correlation between historical and forecast rates for the ECL is a significant estimate. The 

amount of the ECL is sensitive to changes and the assumptions adopted by management may not be representative of 

actual defaults in the future. The information about the Group’s Trade Receivables and ECL’s is disclosed in Note 4. 

 

(g)       Investments in joint arrangements 

 

Joint arrangements are arrangements of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractual 

agreed sharing of control which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 

the parties sharing control. Joint arrangements are classified as either a joint operation or joint venture, based on the 

rights and obligations arising from the contractual obligations between the parties to the arrangement. To the extent the 

joint arrangement provides the Group with rights to the individual assets and obligations arising from the joint 

arrangement, the arrangement is classified as a joint operation and as such, the Group recognises its:  

 

• Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;  

• Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

• Share of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

• Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(f) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair 

values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 

as disclosed in Note 18. 

Income taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses 

can be utilised. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 

recognised, based on the likely timing and the level of future taxable profit along with future tax planning 

strategies. Management considers forecast future taxable income over a 5-year horizon and performs stress testing of 

budgets to ensure DTA recoverability is appropriate. Deferred tax assets are not recognised where utilisation is not 

considered probable.  

Provision for expected credit loss (ECL) on trade account advance 

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade account advances. The provision rates are based on days 

past due and customer type and rating. 

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group calibrates the matrix to 

adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information based on forecast economic conditions, at 

each reporting date. The correlation between historical and forecast rates for the ECL is a significant estimate. The 

amount of the ECL is sensitive to changes and the assumptions adopted by management may not be representative of 

actual defaults in the future. The information about the Group’s Trade Receivables and ECL’s is disclosed in Note 4. 

 

(g)       Investments in joint arrangements 

 

Joint arrangements are arrangements of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractual 

agreed sharing of control which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 

the parties sharing control. Joint arrangements are classified as either a joint operation or joint venture, based on the 

rights and obligations arising from the contractual obligations between the parties to the arrangement. To the extent the 

joint arrangement provides the Group with rights to the individual assets and obligations arising from the joint 

arrangement, the arrangement is classified as a joint operation and as such, the Group recognises its:  

 

• Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;  

• Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

• Share of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and 

• Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 
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1 Accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Investments in joint arrangements (continued) 

The Group has a direct interest in one unincorporated joint operation shown below 

  % Interest 

Joint arrangement Principal activities 2022 2021 

BS26 Development of Busselton property into lots for sale 50% - 

 

During the year, the joint arrangement began developing the Busselton property into lots for sale. The joint arrangement 

incurred $1,216,000 of development costs and $66,000 of expenses. 

2 Revenues and expenses 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers 
 

  For the Year ended 30 June 2022 

 

Management fee  
$’000 

Commission 
income $’000 

Advertising 
income $’000 

Reward 
merchandise 

income 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Geographical markets      

Australia 24,648 2,655 2,600 8,995 38,898 

New Zealand 1,574 213 579 1,883 4,249 

Total revenue from contracts with 
customers 

26,222 2,868 3,179 10,878 43,147 

 
 

 

Management fee  
$’000 

Commission 
income $’000 

Advertising 
income $’000 

Reward 
merchandise 

income 
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Timing of revenue recognition      

Revenue earned at a point in time - 2,868 3,179 10,878 16,925 

Revenue earned over time 26,222 - - - 26,222 

Total revenue from contracts with 
customers 

26,222 2,868 3,179 10,878 43,147 

 
 

  For the Year ended 30 June 2021 

 

Management fee  
$’000 

Commission 
income  
$’000 

Advertising 
income  
$’000 

Reward 
merchandise 

income 
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Geographical markets      

Australia 20,572 2,197 1,737 7,293 31,799 

New Zealand 1,402 200 530 1,546 3,678 

Total revenue from contracts with 
customers 

21,974 2,397 2,267 8,839 35,477 
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2 Revenues and expenses 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 
 

 

Management fee  
$’000 

Commission 
income  
$’000 

Advertising 
income  
$’000 

Reward 
merchandise 

income 
$’000 

Total 
 $’000 

Timing of revenue recognition      

Revenue earned at a point in time - 2,397 2,267 8,839 13,503 

Revenue earned over time 21,974 - - - 21,974 

Total revenue from contracts with 
customers 

21,974 2,397 2,267 8,839 35,477 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group’s core business activity is facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for its Members 

operating in the automotive services sector. As discussed above under critical accounting estimates and judgments (see 

note 1(f)), trade account revenue is accounted for using the effective interest rate method. There are a number of other 

activities the Group undertakes in addition to the core business activity as described, namely administration and support 

services to a related party, producing advertising publications for Members and Preferred Suppliers and insurance 

product referrals. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 

customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services.  

Management fees 

The Group provides administration support services, claims support and sales support to Capricorn Mutual Limited 

under a fixed price contractual agreement. The management fees in relation to this agreement are agreed annually and 

are effective from 01 July. There is a single performance obligation comprising a series of distinct services with a similar 

pattern of transfer under the contract which is satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 

the services. Revenue from providing services is recognised on the percentage of completion basis using the input 

method. The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from 

contracts with customers are provided in Note 1(f). 

Commission income 

The Group earns commission from third party insurance product providers for the referral of Members. Revenue arising 

from the arrangement is recognised in full at the point in time that the insurance policy is written by the third party or 

related party product provider.  

Advertising income 

The Group sells advertising space to Preferred Suppliers in publications produced by the Group for the benefit of 

Members. Revenue arising from the sale of advertising space is recognised in full at the point in time when the publication 

is produced and distributed to the Members.  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2 Revenues and expenses (continued) 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

Reward merchandise income 

The Group earns merchandise income when Members redeem reward points for merchandise or gift cards under the 

Group’s loyalty Reward Points programme. Revenue arising from the reward merchandise income is recognised in full at 

the point in time when the Member redeems the reward points. 

(b) Interest and other income 
 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Interest on financial assets at amortised cost  8,039 6,790 

Interest revenue 8,039 6,790 

   

   

Rent received 131 139 

Other income 1,662 1,380 

Total – Other income 1,793 1,519 

Trade account revenue 

The Group is in the business of facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for its Members from 

Preferred Suppliers operating in the automotive services sector, via the advancement of credit, the provision of 

settlement services and the provision of ancillary services to support the procurement. 

The Group has concluded that this is a financing transaction and accordingly trade account revenue is recognised in the 

income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest method measures the amortised cost of a 

trade account advances using the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate discounts the estimated stream of 

future cash receipts over the expected life of the trade account advances to the gross carrying amount of the trade 

account advances. 

Reward Points programme 

The Group operates a loyalty Reward Points programme which allows Members to accumulate points when they 

purchase goods and services from Preferred Suppliers using their Capricorn account. The points can be redeemed for 

gift cards, products, travel or can be used to settle the Member’s account with Capricorn, at the Member’s discretion. 

The fair value of the Reward Points awarded to the Member is recognised as a financial liability until the points are 

redeemed. Revenue is recognised upon redemption by the Member if the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points 

in exchange for goods or services. Where the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points to settle their trade account 

advances, no further revenue is recognised. 

  

68 Capricorn Society • Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

2 Revenues and expenses 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 
 
 

 

Management fee  
$’000 

Commission 
income  
$’000 

Advertising 
income  
$’000 

Reward 
merchandise 

income 
$’000 

Total 
 $’000 

Timing of revenue recognition      

Revenue earned at a point in time - 2,397 2,267 8,839 13,503 

Revenue earned over time 21,974 - - - 21,974 

Total revenue from contracts with 
customers 

21,974 2,397 2,267 8,839 35,477 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group’s core business activity is facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for its Members 

operating in the automotive services sector. As discussed above under critical accounting estimates and judgments (see 

note 1(f)), trade account revenue is accounted for using the effective interest rate method. There are a number of other 

activities the Group undertakes in addition to the core business activity as described, namely administration and support 

services to a related party, producing advertising publications for Members and Preferred Suppliers and insurance 

product referrals. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 

customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services.  

Management fees 

The Group provides administration support services, claims support and sales support to Capricorn Mutual Limited 

under a fixed price contractual agreement. The management fees in relation to this agreement are agreed annually and 

are effective from 01 July. There is a single performance obligation comprising a series of distinct services with a similar 

pattern of transfer under the contract which is satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 

the services. Revenue from providing services is recognised on the percentage of completion basis using the input 

method. The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from 

contracts with customers are provided in Note 1(f). 

Commission income 

The Group earns commission from third party insurance product providers for the referral of Members. Revenue arising 

from the arrangement is recognised in full at the point in time that the insurance policy is written by the third party or 

related party product provider.  

Advertising income 

The Group sells advertising space to Preferred Suppliers in publications produced by the Group for the benefit of 

Members. Revenue arising from the sale of advertising space is recognised in full at the point in time when the publication 

is produced and distributed to the Members.  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 

 

2 Revenues and expenses (continued) 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

Reward merchandise income 

The Group earns merchandise income when Members redeem reward points for merchandise or gift cards under the 

Group’s loyalty Reward Points programme. Revenue arising from the reward merchandise income is recognised in full at 

the point in time when the Member redeems the reward points. 

(b) Interest and other income 
 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Interest on financial assets at amortised cost  8,039 6,790 

Interest revenue 8,039 6,790 

   

   

Rent received 131 139 

Other income 1,662 1,380 

Total – Other income 1,793 1,519 

Trade account revenue 

The Group is in the business of facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for its Members from 

Preferred Suppliers operating in the automotive services sector, via the advancement of credit, the provision of 

settlement services and the provision of ancillary services to support the procurement. 

The Group has concluded that this is a financing transaction and accordingly trade account revenue is recognised in the 

income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest method measures the amortised cost of a 

trade account advances using the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate discounts the estimated stream of 

future cash receipts over the expected life of the trade account advances to the gross carrying amount of the trade 

account advances. 

Reward Points programme 

The Group operates a loyalty Reward Points programme which allows Members to accumulate points when they 

purchase goods and services from Preferred Suppliers using their Capricorn account. The points can be redeemed for 

gift cards, products, travel or can be used to settle the Member’s account with Capricorn, at the Member’s discretion. 

The fair value of the Reward Points awarded to the Member is recognised as a financial liability until the points are 

redeemed. Revenue is recognised upon redemption by the Member if the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points 

in exchange for goods or services. Where the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points to settle their trade account 

advances, no further revenue is recognised. 
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2 Revenues and expenses (continued) 

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

Reward merchandise income 

The Group earns merchandise income when Members redeem reward points for merchandise or gift cards under the 

Group’s loyalty Reward Points programme. Revenue arising from the reward merchandise income is recognised in full at 

the point in time when the Member redeems the reward points. 

(b) Interest and other income 
 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Interest on financial assets at amortised cost  8,039 6,790 

Interest revenue 8,039 6,790 

   

   

Rent received 131 139 

Other income 1,662 1,380 

Total – Other income 1,793 1,519 

Trade account revenue 

The Group is in the business of facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for its Members from 

Preferred Suppliers operating in the automotive services sector, via the advancement of credit, the provision of 

settlement services and the provision of ancillary services to support the procurement. 

The Group has concluded that this is a financing transaction and accordingly trade account revenue is recognised in the 

income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest method measures the amortised cost of a 

trade account advances using the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate discounts the estimated stream of 

future cash receipts over the expected life of the trade account advances to the gross carrying amount of the trade 

account advances. 

Reward Points programme 

The Group operates a loyalty Reward Points programme which allows Members to accumulate points when they 

purchase goods and services from Preferred Suppliers using their Capricorn account. The points can be redeemed for 

gift cards, products, travel or can be used to settle the Member’s account with Capricorn, at the Member’s discretion. 

The fair value of the Reward Points awarded to the Member is recognised as a financial liability until the points are 

redeemed. Revenue is recognised upon redemption by the Member if the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points 

in exchange for goods or services. Where the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points to settle their trade account 

advances, no further revenue is recognised. 
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2 Revenues and expenses (continued) 

(b) Interest and other income (continued) 

Other interest revenue 

Interest revenue is recognised on an effective interest rate basis that takes into account the interest rates applicable to 

the financial asset. 

Rental income 

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(c) Other operating income 

 
2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Profit from sale of financial assets 7 20 

Profit from sale of investment property 41 - 

Remeasurement gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 11,664 

Remeasurement gain on investment properties at fair value through profit or 

loss 
1,275 - 

Foreign exchange gain realised 2 24 

Investment income received 3,926 1,785 

Profit from sale of plant & equipment - 9 
 5,251 13,502 

Refer to note 7 and 18 for a summary of the Groups financial asset investments, which are classified and measured as at 

fair value through profit or loss. Fair value gain on financial assets does not include dividends received which are 

presented separately. 

Investment income 

Dividend revenue is recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis when the Group’s right to receive the 

dividend is established. Investment income is presented separately and is not included in the fair value gain or loss on 

the financial assets. 

(d) Employee benefit expense 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 
   

Salary and wages 40,826 36,958 

Superannuation 4,091 3,701 

Commissions and bonuses 3,956 3,799 

Other employee expenses 4,069 3,728 

 52,942 48,186 
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2 Revenues and expenses (continued) 

(b) Interest and other income (continued) 

Other interest revenue 

Interest revenue is recognised on an effective interest rate basis that takes into account the interest rates applicable to 

the financial asset. 

Rental income 

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(c) Other operating income 

 
2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Profit from sale of financial assets 7 20 

Profit from sale of investment property 41 - 

Remeasurement gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 11,664 

Remeasurement gain on investment properties at fair value through profit or 

loss 
1,275 - 

Foreign exchange gain realised 2 24 

Investment income received 3,926 1,785 

Profit from sale of plant & equipment - 9 
 5,251 13,502 

Refer to note 7 and 18 for a summary of the Groups financial asset investments, which are classified and measured as at 

fair value through profit or loss. Fair value gain on financial assets does not include dividends received which are 

presented separately. 

Investment income 

Dividend revenue is recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis when the Group’s right to receive the 

dividend is established. Investment income is presented separately and is not included in the fair value gain or loss on 

the financial assets. 

(d) Employee benefit expense 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 
   

Salary and wages 40,826 36,958 

Superannuation 4,091 3,701 

Commissions and bonuses 3,956 3,799 

Other employee expenses 4,069 3,728 

 52,942 48,186 
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2 Revenues and expenses (continued) 

(e) Member trade rebate 

A Member trading rebate of $15,099,969 was approved and declared by the board in September 2021. This was allocated 

to Members during the year ending 30 June 2022 in the form of Reward Points on a pro rata basis based on total Member 

spend in the 2021 financial year. No Member trading rebate was declared during the year ending 30 June 2022. 

(f) Liability for unredeemed Reward Points 
 2022 2021 

Reward Points $’000 $’000 

Opening Balance – Liability for unredeemed Reward Points at 1 July 68,282 53,458 

Reward Points issued  43,352 38,489 

Reward Points issued - Member trading rebate 15,100 13,427 

Reward Points redeemed  (44,622) (37,092) 

Closing Balance – Liability for unredeemed Reward Points 82,112 68,282 

Reward Points are earned by Members through eligible purchases from suppliers. The fair value of the liability is 

recognised at the time Members conduct purchase transactions with Preferred Suppliers and is subsequently measured 

at amortised cost. The liability for Reward Points are redeemable to settle trade account advance or for goods or services 

at the Members’ discretion. Member trade rebate that has been declared but not yet allocated to Members is disclosed 

in Note 23. 

(g) Other expenses 
 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Provision for expected credit losses 3,006 2,754 

Travel expenses 1,240 627 

Information technology and communication expenses 7,197 7,678 

Lease rental expenses 30 12 

Loss on disposal of plant & equipment 4 - 

Remeasurement loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14,670 - 

Remeasurement loss on investment properties at fair value through profit or 

loss 
- 320 

Consulting expenses 2,641 2,200 

Trade Commissions 1,774 1,481 

Insurance, Legal & Accounting Fees 2,595 2,209 

Credit Card Fee Expense 219 643 

Reward merchandise expense 10,915 8,798 

Other operating expenses 8,416 6,049 

 52,707 32,771 
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3 Income tax 

(a) The major components of income tax expense are: 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss   

Current income tax:   

Current income tax charge 14,905 14,885 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year (274) 63 

   

Deferred tax:   

Over provision for deferred tax in prior year (49) (10) 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (7,823) 996 

Income tax expense reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 

Loss 
6,759 15,934 

(b) Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Australia’s domestic tax 

rate for 2021 and 2022: 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Accounting profit before income tax 24,146 53,492 

   

Income tax at Australia's statutory tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 7,244 16,048 

Tax effect of:   

- Non-deductible expense for tax purposes 63 102 

- Imputation credits (93) (131) 

- (Over)/under provision for income tax in prior year (274) 63 

- Over provision for deferred tax in prior year (49) (10) 

- Effect of foreign income tax (132) (138) 

Income tax reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 6,759 15,934 

(c) Tax Losses 

The Group does not have any unused tax losses at 30 June 2022. 

(d) Tax consolidation 

Capricorn Society Limited and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group 

under the tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the Group recognises its own current and deferred tax assets and 

liabilities. Such taxes are measured using the 'standalone taxpayer' approach to allocation. Current tax liabilities (assets) 

and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the subsidiaries are immediately transferred to 

the parent entity. The tax consolidated group has entered into a tax funding arrangement whereby each company in the 

Group contributes to the income tax payable by the Group in proportion to their contribution to the Group's taxable 

income. Differences between the amounts of net tax assets and liabilities derecognised and the net amounts recognised 

pursuant to the funding arrangement are recognised as either a contribution by, or distribution to the parent entity.  
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3 Income tax 

(a) The major components of income tax expense are: 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss   

Current income tax:   

Current income tax charge 14,905 14,885 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year (274) 63 

   

Deferred tax:   

Over provision for deferred tax in prior year (49) (10) 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (7,823) 996 

Income tax expense reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 

Loss 
6,759 15,934 

(b) Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Australia’s domestic tax 

rate for 2021 and 2022: 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Accounting profit before income tax 24,146 53,492 

   

Income tax at Australia's statutory tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 7,244 16,048 

Tax effect of:   

- Non-deductible expense for tax purposes 63 102 

- Imputation credits (93) (131) 

- (Over)/under provision for income tax in prior year (274) 63 

- Over provision for deferred tax in prior year (49) (10) 

- Effect of foreign income tax (132) (138) 

Income tax reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 6,759 15,934 

(c) Tax Losses 

The Group does not have any unused tax losses at 30 June 2022. 

(d) Tax consolidation 

Capricorn Society Limited and its wholly owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group 

under the tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the Group recognises its own current and deferred tax assets and 

liabilities. Such taxes are measured using the 'standalone taxpayer' approach to allocation. Current tax liabilities (assets) 

and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in the subsidiaries are immediately transferred to 

the parent entity. The tax consolidated group has entered into a tax funding arrangement whereby each company in the 

Group contributes to the income tax payable by the Group in proportion to their contribution to the Group's taxable 

income. Differences between the amounts of net tax assets and liabilities derecognised and the net amounts recognised 

pursuant to the funding arrangement are recognised as either a contribution by, or distribution to the parent entity.  
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3 Income tax (continued) 

(e) Current tax liabilities 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Current tax liabilities 6,158 8,308 

Fringe benefits tax 174 115 
 6,332 8,423 

 (f) Deferred tax assets 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Doubtful debts 2,369 2,076 

Provisions and accruals 2,942 3,619 

Reward Points 20,256 16,628 

Intangibles (2,087) (2,643) 

Other sundry accounts 987 (3,073) 
 24,467 16,607 

Deferred tax is provided for using the full liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.  

No deferred tax recognised on the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding those acquired in a business 

combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset 

is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date.  

Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of 

the related asset or liability. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 

controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future. 

Current assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of setoff exists and it is intended that net 

settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of setoff exists for current tax assets against current tax liabilities, 

and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 

either: the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 

realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of 

deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.  
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3 Income tax (continued) 

(g) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the relevant tax authority. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis except for receipts from Members 

and payments to Suppliers, which includes GST of the Member and Supplier, which Capricorn is not party to. The GST 

component of investing and financing activities is disclosed as operating cash flows. 

4 Trade account advances and equipment loans  

 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

Current   

Trade account advances 279,692 246,855 

Equipment loans 15,912 14,518 

Allowance for impairment of advances and loans (7,264) (6,261) 

 288,340 255,112 

Other receivables 11,098 10,188 
 299,438 265,300 

   

Non-current   

Equipment loans 15,421 13,763 

Allowance for impairment of loans (718) (737) 

 14,703 13,026 

Trade account advances and equipment loans are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, less expected credit loss.  

Current trade account advances are noninterest bearing and are on 30 day terms. Current equipment loans are non-

interest bearing and subject to various contractual terms not exceeding 30 days. Non-current equipment loans are fixed 

interest loans to Members, with terms greater than 12 months. Collectability of trade account advances and equipment 

loans is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Due to the short-term nature of the current trade account advances and 

equipment loans, the ECL’s are based on the lifetime expected credit losses. Trade account advances and equipment 

loans which are known to be uncollectible are written off. The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade 

account advances and equipment loans. The provision rates are based on credit risks for groupings of various customer 

segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e, by geography, customer type and rating). The provision matrix is initially 

based on the Group’s historical observed default rates and is adjusted for forward looking information. Trade accounts 

are subject to strict credit terms as contracted in the Approved Purchaser Agreement.  The Group considers a trade 

account to be in default when the outstanding receivable becomes past due.  

If forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product or credit environment) are expected to deteriorate over the 

next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the automotive industry sector, the historical default rates 

are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed   
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3 Income tax (continued) 

(g) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 

not recoverable from the relevant tax authority. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis except for receipts from Members 

and payments to Suppliers, which includes GST of the Member and Supplier, which Capricorn is not party to. The GST 

component of investing and financing activities is disclosed as operating cash flows. 

4 Trade account advances and equipment loans  

 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

Current   

Trade account advances 279,692 246,855 

Equipment loans 15,912 14,518 

Allowance for impairment of advances and loans (7,264) (6,261) 

 288,340 255,112 

Other receivables 11,098 10,188 
 299,438 265,300 

   

Non-current   

Equipment loans 15,421 13,763 

Allowance for impairment of loans (718) (737) 

 14,703 13,026 

Trade account advances and equipment loans are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, less expected credit loss.  

Current trade account advances are noninterest bearing and are on 30 day terms. Current equipment loans are non-

interest bearing and subject to various contractual terms not exceeding 30 days. Non-current equipment loans are fixed 

interest loans to Members, with terms greater than 12 months. Collectability of trade account advances and equipment 

loans is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Due to the short-term nature of the current trade account advances and 

equipment loans, the ECL’s are based on the lifetime expected credit losses. Trade account advances and equipment 

loans which are known to be uncollectible are written off. The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade 

account advances and equipment loans. The provision rates are based on credit risks for groupings of various customer 

segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e, by geography, customer type and rating). The provision matrix is initially 

based on the Group’s historical observed default rates and is adjusted for forward looking information. Trade accounts 

are subject to strict credit terms as contracted in the Approved Purchaser Agreement.  The Group considers a trade 

account to be in default when the outstanding receivable becomes past due.  

If forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product or credit environment) are expected to deteriorate over the 

next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the automotive industry sector, the historical default rates 

are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed   
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4 Trade account advances and equipment loans (continued) 

default rates are reviewed and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is 

a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. 

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of 

customer’s actual default in the future. 

The Group utilises its credit department and external debt collection agencies to recover outstanding debts. Once a 

debt becomes unrecoverable, the Group will write it off however debts under enforcement activity will continued to be 

monitored. 

The Group has recognised an expense of $3,006,000 (2021: $2,754,000) in respect of the expected credit losses on 

trade account advances during the year ended 30 June 2022. This expense has been included in ‘Other expenses’ in the 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.  

Capricorn has not adjusted its provision methodology for COVID-19 due to its previously stated resilience to the 

economic downturn and no identifiable variance to Member trade account payments. 

Movement in allowance for impairment of trade account advances and equipment loans 

 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

Current   

Opening balance at 1 July (6,261) (4,884) 

Charge for year to Profit or Loss – trade account advances and equipment loans  (2,903) (2,701) 

Debts previously provided for fully written off 1,880 988 

Exchange movement 20 336 

Closing balance at 30 June (7,264) (6,261) 
   

 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

Non-Current   

Opening balance at 1 July (737) (454) 

Charge for year to Profit or Loss – equipment loans  (103) (53) 

Debts previously provided for fully written off 103 53 

Exchange movement 19 (283) 

Closing balance at 30 June (718) (737) 

Total (7,982) (6,998) 

The increase in trade account advances and equipment loans has led to an increase in the allowance for the impairment 

of receivables. The Group experienced strong sales growth during the period. The trade account advances and 

equipment loans balance at 30 June 2022 increased by $35,728,000 or 13% on the prior period.  

Analysis of trade account advances ageing and impairment includes both current and non-current trade account 

advances and equipment loans and is set out below. Trade account advances form part of "Trade account advances and 

equipment loans" included above.  
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4 Trade account advances and equipment loans (continued) 

 
 
 

 

 Gross carrying 

amount of trade 

account 

advances Impairment 
 ECL risk rating $’000 $’000 

2022    

Not yet due:    

Current trade account 

advances and equipment loans 
Low 282,621 (4,491) 

Non – current equipment loans Low 15,421 (718) 

Past due:    

30 days Low 9,926 (505) 

60 days Moderate 738 (339) 

90 days High 473 (298) 

90+ days High 1,846 (1,631) 

Total  311,025 (7,982) 

    

2021  
  

Not yet due:    

Current trade account 

advances and equipment loans 
Low 250,582 (3,391) 

Non – current equipment loans Low 13,763 (737) 

Past due:  
  

30 days Low 7,899 (407) 

60 days Moderate 483 (285) 

90 days High 332 (264) 

90+ days High 2,077 (1,914) 

Total  275,136 (6,998) 

    

All receivables other than those provided for are expected to be recovered in full. 
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4 Trade account advances and equipment loans (continued) 

 
 
 

 

 Gross carrying 

amount of trade 

account 

advances Impairment 
 ECL risk rating $’000 $’000 

2022    

Not yet due:    

Current trade account 

advances and equipment loans 
Low 282,621 (4,491) 

Non – current equipment loans Low 15,421 (718) 

Past due:    

30 days Low 9,926 (505) 

60 days Moderate 738 (339) 

90 days High 473 (298) 

90+ days High 1,846 (1,631) 

Total  311,025 (7,982) 

    

2021  
  

Not yet due:    

Current trade account 

advances and equipment loans 
Low 250,582 (3,391) 

Non – current equipment loans Low 13,763 (737) 

Past due:  
  

30 days Low 7,899 (407) 

60 days Moderate 483 (285) 

90 days High 332 (264) 

90+ days High 2,077 (1,914) 

Total  275,136 (6,998) 

    

All receivables other than those provided for are expected to be recovered in full. 
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5 Cash and cash equivalents 
 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 

   

Cash at bank 58,728 75,649 

Short-term deposits 31,494 27,493 
 90,222 103,142 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 

deposits as defined above. 

(a) Cash at bank and on hand 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

(b) Short-term deposits 

Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and 3 months, depending on the immediate cash 

requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. Due to the short-term nature of 

these deposits, the Group determines that they are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(c) Banking facilities 

At 30 June 2022, the Group had available the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all 

conditions had been met: 

   

 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Business Visa Card Facility 696 640 

(d) Reconciliation to the Statement of Cash Flows 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank, net of 

outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement 

of Financial Position as follows: 

 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Cash and cash equivalents 

 
90,222 103,142 
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5 Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 

(e) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax 
 2022 2021 
 

$’000 $’000 

   

Profit after tax for the year 17,387 37,558 

   

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities:  
 

Non-cash flows in profit   

Depreciation and amortisation 5,359 5,460 

Fair value adjustments 13,388 (11,364) 

Other non-cash items (1,592) (1,692) 

   

Changes in assets and liabilities:   

Increase in trade and term receivables and other assets (39,905) (39,752) 

Increase in trade and other payables 39,551 32,844 

Increase in GST liability 138 171 

Increase in employee benefits 262 708 

Increase / (Decrease) in tax liabilities (10,089) 4,326 

Net cash from operating activities 24,499 28,259 

6     Inventories 

Inventory relates to land currently under development in Busselton. The Group is developing the land to sell as 

residential lots in conjunction with the Group’s joint operation partner, who is an experienced developer. The Group is 

required to carry inventory at lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made, 

of the amount the inventories are expected to realise and the estimate of costs to complete. The key assumptions require 

the use of management judgement and are reviewed annually. 

 
 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 

   

Opening inventories - - 

Reclassification from investment properties  2,900 - 

Capitalised development costs  825 - 
 3,725 - 

 

7  Financial assets 

The Group's financial assets include investments in unit trusts, hybrid securities, listed and unlisted securities. Refer to 

note 18 for breakdown and classification at balance date. 
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5 Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 

(e) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax 
 2022 2021 
 

$’000 $’000 

   

Profit after tax for the year 17,387 37,558 

   

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities:  
 

Non-cash flows in profit   

Depreciation and amortisation 5,359 5,460 

Fair value adjustments 13,388 (11,364) 

Other non-cash items (1,592) (1,692) 

   

Changes in assets and liabilities:   

Increase in trade and term receivables and other assets (39,905) (39,752) 

Increase in trade and other payables 39,551 32,844 

Increase in GST liability 138 171 

Increase in employee benefits 262 708 

Increase / (Decrease) in tax liabilities (10,089) 4,326 

Net cash from operating activities 24,499 28,259 

6     Inventories 

Inventory relates to land currently under development in Busselton. The Group is developing the land to sell as 

residential lots in conjunction with the Group’s joint operation partner, who is an experienced developer. The Group is 

required to carry inventory at lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made, 

of the amount the inventories are expected to realise and the estimate of costs to complete. The key assumptions require 

the use of management judgement and are reviewed annually. 

 
 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 

   

Opening inventories - - 

Reclassification from investment properties  2,900 - 

Capitalised development costs  825 - 
 3,725 - 

 

7  Financial assets 

The Group's financial assets include investments in unit trusts, hybrid securities, listed and unlisted securities. Refer to 

note 18 for breakdown and classification at balance date. 
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7     Financial assets (continued) 

Recognition and initial measurement 

Financial assets are recognised when the entity becomes a party to contractual provisions of the instruments. Trade date 

accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by marketplace convention. 

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value on trade date, which includes transaction costs for financial 

instruments not at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition the Group’s financial assets are 

measured as set out below. 

(a) Investment in hybrid securities  

Investments in hybrid securities comprise of income producing preference notes offered by Australian financial 

institutions, where the underlying portfolio investment consists of fixed interest securities with an option to convert upon 

maturity. The investment strategy is “balanced growth” yielding both a return of income and capital. The investments in 

hybrid securities are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
(b) Investment in Government bonds  

Investments in government and other bonds comprise of income producing bonds offered by Federal and State treasury 

corporations and other government entities, where the underlying portfolio investment consists of fixed interest 

securities. The investment strategy is “balanced growth” yielding both a return of income and capital. The investments in 

government and other bonds are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
(c)       Investment in fixed interest securities 

Investments in fixed interest securities comprise of income producing bonds offered by listed and other private entities, 

where the underlying portfolio investment consists of fixed interest securities. The investment strategy is “balanced 

growth” yielding both a return of income and capital. The investments in fixed interest securities are classified and 

measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

(d) Investment in listed securities 

Investments in listed securities comprise of ordinary shares and options in ASX listed companies. The investment strategy 

is “capital growth”. The investments in listed securities are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

(e)      Investments in unit trusts  

Investments in unit trusts comprise managed portfolio investments, where the underlying portfolio investment consists 

of shares traded in active markets. The investment strategy is “balanced growth” yielding both a return of income and 

capital. The portfolio managers may alter the asset class weighting in accordance with the investment strategy. The 

investments in unit trusts are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.  
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8 Investment properties 
 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Opening balance at 1 July  3,655 3,975 

Revaluation 1,275 (320) 

Disposal (2,030) - 

Reclassification to inventory (2,900) - 

Closing balance at 30 June - 3,655 

Investment properties, comprising freehold office complexes, industrial land and residential land, are held to generate 

long-term rental and capital yields. Investment properties are carried at fair value, determined annually by independent 

valuers. Changes to fair values are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss as 'Other operating income' 

or ‘Other expenses’. During the period, the Welshpool Road investment property was disposed of for proceeds of 

$2,100,000 and the Busselton investment property was reclassified to inventories as it is currently under development. 

It is the Group’s intention to develop the land and sell as residential lots in conjunction with the Group’s joint operation 

partner.   

 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Rental income derived from investment properties  131 139 

Direct operating expense recovery 21 26 

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) generating 
rental income (included in other expenses)  (21) (26) 

Profit arising from investment properties carried at fair value 131 139 

The Group has no restrictions on the recoverability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to 

purchase, construct or develop investment properties.  

(a) Valuation basis 

Fair value measurements of non-financial assets take into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 

asset in its highest and best use. 
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8 Investment properties 
 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Opening balance at 1 July  3,655 3,975 

Revaluation 1,275 (320) 

Disposal (2,030) - 

Reclassification to inventory (2,900) - 

Closing balance at 30 June - 3,655 

Investment properties, comprising freehold office complexes, industrial land and residential land, are held to generate 

long-term rental and capital yields. Investment properties are carried at fair value, determined annually by independent 

valuers. Changes to fair values are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss as 'Other operating income' 

or ‘Other expenses’. During the period, the Welshpool Road investment property was disposed of for proceeds of 

$2,100,000 and the Busselton investment property was reclassified to inventories as it is currently under development. 

It is the Group’s intention to develop the land and sell as residential lots in conjunction with the Group’s joint operation 

partner.   

 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Rental income derived from investment properties  131 139 

Direct operating expense recovery 21 26 

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) generating 
rental income (included in other expenses)  (21) (26) 

Profit arising from investment properties carried at fair value 131 139 

The Group has no restrictions on the recoverability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to 

purchase, construct or develop investment properties.  

(a) Valuation basis 

Fair value measurements of non-financial assets take into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 

asset in its highest and best use. 
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8 Investment properties (continued) 

(a) Valuation basis (continued) 
 

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties: 

 

 Valuation technique 
Significant 

unobservable inputs 

Range (WA) 

2021 

Office 

properties 

Capitalisation approach, 

direct comparison 

approach  

Estimated value per 

sqm  

 

 

Capitalisation rate 

$2,750/m2 – 

$3,250/m2 

($3,000/m2) 

 

6.50% - 7.00%  

(6.75%) 

 

Warehouse Capitalisation approach, 

direct comparison 

approach  

Estimated value per 

sqm  

 

 

Capitalisation rate 

$1,250/m2 – 

$1,750/m2 

($1,500/m2) 

 

6.50% - 7.00%  

(6.75%) 

 

Land Direct comparison 

approach 

Estimated value per 

sqm 

$125/m2 - 

$150/m2 

($175/m2) 

During the period, the Welshpool Road investment property was disposed of for proceeds of $2,100,000 and the 

Busselton investment property was reclassified to inventories as it is currently under development.  
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9 Intangibles 
 

 Software Costs 

 $'000 

Gross carrying value  

At 1 July 2020 at cost 20,916 

Additions 2,092 

At 30 June 2021 at cost 23,008 

Reclassification from work in progress to property plant and equipment (326) 

At 30 June 2022 at cost 22,682 

  

Accumulated amortisation  

At 1 July 2020 (8,913) 

Amortisation (2,390) 

At 30 June 2021 (11,303) 

Amortisation (2,493) 

At 30 June 2022 (13,796) 

  

Net book value  

At 30 June 2021 11,705 

At 30 June 2022 8,886 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 

carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related 

expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The Group determined that software development costs for the replacement of the Group’s Enterprise Resource 

Planning system meet the criteria of AASB 138 intangible assets and have been capitalised and presented as such.   

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 

expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 

considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 

estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 

Profit or Loss. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when 

the asset is derecognised. 

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

 Software – 5 to 10 years 
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9 Intangibles 
 

 Software Costs 

 $'000 

Gross carrying value  

At 1 July 2020 at cost 20,916 

Additions 2,092 

At 30 June 2021 at cost 23,008 

Reclassification from work in progress to property plant and equipment (326) 

At 30 June 2022 at cost 22,682 

  

Accumulated amortisation  

At 1 July 2020 (8,913) 

Amortisation (2,390) 

At 30 June 2021 (11,303) 

Amortisation (2,493) 

At 30 June 2022 (13,796) 

  

Net book value  

At 30 June 2021 11,705 

At 30 June 2022 8,886 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 

carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the related 

expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The Group determined that software development costs for the replacement of the Group’s Enterprise Resource 

Planning system meet the criteria of AASB 138 intangible assets and have been capitalised and presented as such.   

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 

expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 

considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 

estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 

Profit or Loss. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when 

the asset is derecognised. 

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

 Software – 5 to 10 years 
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10 Property plant and equipment 

 
Freehold 

Land 

Freehold 

Buildings 

Furniture & 

Fittings 

Computer 

Hardware 

Computer 

Software 
Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Gross carrying value 

At 1 July 2020 at cost 9,101 5,252 2,609 4,157 3,665 24,784 

Additions - - - 500 - 500 

Disposals - - - (112) (1,667) (1,779) 

At 30 June 2021 at 

cost 
9,101 5,252 2,609 4,545 1,998 23,505 

Additions - - - 988 - 988 

Disposals - - - (61) - (61) 

At 30 June 2022 at 

cost 
9,101 5,252 2,609 5,472 1,998 24,432 

       

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 

At 1 July 2020 - (619) (1,349) (2,772) (1,555) (6,295) 

Depreciation charge 

for the year 
- (145) (305) (810) (200) (1,460) 

Disposals - - - 100 43 143 

At 30 June 2021 - (764) (1,654) (3,482) (1,712) (7,612) 

Depreciation charge 

for the year 
- (145) (306) (675) (188) (1,314) 

Disposals - - - 57 - 57 

At 30 June 2022 - (909) (1,960) (4,100) (1,900) (8,869) 

       

Net book value       

At 30 June 2021 9,101 4,488 955 1,063 286 15,893 

At 30 June 2022 9,101 4,343 649 1,372 98 15,563 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost 

includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. 

Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 

equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation.  

Land is measured at cost and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

 Buildings – 40 years 

 Plant and equipment – 5 to 20 years 

 Computer equipment – 3 years 

 Furniture and fittings – 3 to 10 years 
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10 Property plant and equipment (continued) 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

financial year end. Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 

gains and losses are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.  

Derecognition and disposal 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

11 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is 

any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, 

being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, or the asset does not generate largely 

independent cash inflows, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs, unless the asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. 

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. 

As at 30 June 2022, the Group identified no indicator of impairment. 

12 Other current assets 

 
2022 2021 

 
$'000 $'000 

Accrued income 51 16 

Other assets 3,568 2,546 

 
3,619 2,562 

Other assets are non-interest bearing. 
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10 Property plant and equipment (continued) 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

financial year end. Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 

gains and losses are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.  

Derecognition and disposal 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

11 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is 

any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, 

being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, or the asset does not generate largely 

independent cash inflows, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs, unless the asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. 

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. 

As at 30 June 2022, the Group identified no indicator of impairment. 

12 Other current assets 

 
2022 2021 

 
$'000 $'000 

Accrued income 51 16 

Other assets 3,568 2,546 

 
3,619 2,562 

Other assets are non-interest bearing. 
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13 Leases 

 Office Premises Equipment Motor Vehicles Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Right of use assets     
1 July 2021 188 196 1,674 2,058 

Additions 252 40 1,255 1,547 

Lease Adjustments - - 2 2 

Depreciation for the period (327) (56) (1,205) (1,588) 

Net Book Value – 30 June 2022 113 180 1,726 2,019 

     

Accumulated Depreciation (140) (63) (1,985) (2,188) 

 

 

 Office Premises Equipment Motor Vehicles Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Right of use assets     
1 July 2020 2,810 54 1,590 4,454 

Additions - 203 1,325 1,528 

Lease Adjustments (2,302) - (4) (2,306) 

Depreciation for the period (320) (61) (1,237) (1,618) 

Net Book Value – 30 June 2021 188 196 1,674 2,058 

     

Accumulated Depreciation (642) (48) (1,518) (2,208) 

 

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 

 

 June 

2022 

$’000 

June 

2021 

$’000 

Depreciation expense on right of use assets  1,588 1,618 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  167 155 

Expenses on short term leases  (2) 26 

The cash outflow for leases during the period amounted to $877,000 (2021: $1,988,000). 

Lease Liabilities 

 

June 

2022 

$’000 

June 

2021 

$’000 

Current 1,111 1,190 

Non-Current 974 937 

 2,085 2,127 
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13 Leases (continued) 

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities 

 

June 

2022 

$’000 

June 

2021 

$’000 

Undiscounted Cash flows   

Less than and including 1 year 1,574 1,299 

Between 1 and 5 years 1,550 992 

 3,124 2,291 

Refer to Note 1 (f) for accounting policy on leases. 

14 Trade and other payables 

 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Trade payables 205,917 181,346 

Sundry creditors and accruals 13,329 12,475 

Other payables 1,066 545 
 220,312 194,366 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Trade payables primarily represent liabilities to suppliers for 

purchases made by Members prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 

obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services by Members. 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 

15  Employee benefit liability 

 
2022 2021 

 
$'000 $'000 

Current provisions  
 

Annual Leave 2,504 2,334 

Long service leave 1,476 1,559 
 3,980 3,893 

Non-current provisions  
 

Long service leave 1,372 1,198 
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13 Leases (continued) 

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities 

 

June 

2022 

$’000 

June 

2021 

$’000 

Undiscounted Cash flows   

Less than and including 1 year 1,574 1,299 

Between 1 and 5 years 1,550 992 

 3,124 2,291 

Refer to Note 1 (f) for accounting policy on leases. 

14 Trade and other payables 

 2022 2021 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Trade payables 205,917 181,346 

Sundry creditors and accruals 13,329 12,475 

Other payables 1,066 545 
 220,312 194,366 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Trade payables primarily represent liabilities to suppliers for 

purchases made by Members prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 

obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services by Members. 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 

15  Employee benefit liability 

 
2022 2021 

 
$'000 $'000 

Current provisions  
 

Annual Leave 2,504 2,334 

Long service leave 1,476 1,559 
 3,980 3,893 

Non-current provisions  
 

Long service leave 1,372 1,198 
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15  Employee benefit liability (continued) 

Wages, salaries and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave which are expected to 

be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the 

reporting date and classified as short term. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates 

paid or payable.  

Long service leave 

The Group recognises a liability for long service leave measured as the present value of expected future payments to be 

made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 

Consideration is given to expected and future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods 

of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality Australian 

corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 

outflows. 

Short term incentives (STI) 

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for short term incentives (STI’s) payable to senior executives and 

management in the year in which those incentives are earned. The Group recognises a liability within Trade and other 

payables on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position where contractually obligated or where there is a past 

practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

Key management personnel disclosures 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Short-term employee benefits 4,803 5,059 

Post-employment benefits 265 285 

Long-term employee benefits 912 706 

Total compensation 5,980 6,050 

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period related to 

directors, the Group CEO and senior executives. The directors share holdings are shown in the directors’ report on page 

48. The Group CEO and senior executives do not own shares or receive loans from the Group. 
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16 Issued capital and reserves 

(a) Contributed equity 
 

              No. of Shares              Share Capital 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 No. No. $'000 $'000 

Ordinary shares issued and fully 

paid: 
 

 

 

 

Member shares 200,748,912 178,612,733 196,541 174,562 

All region shares 703,862 557,858 704 558 
 201,452,774 179,170,591 197,245 175,120 

Movement in Member shares on issue 
 

Member Shares            No. of Shares             Share Capital 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 No. No. $'000 $'000 

     

Opening balance at 1 July 178,612,733 157,889,337 174,562 154,086 

Additional shares issued 18,453,916 17,432,411 18,239 17,221 

Additional shares issued via 

dividend reinvestment plan 

11,934,918 10,615,515 11,868 10,482 

Shares buy-back (8,252,655) (7,324,530) (8,128) (7,227) 

Balance at 30 June 200,748,912 178,612,733 196,541 174,562 

Member shares 

Due to the cooperative focus of Capricorn Society Limited, voting rights are determined by membership, rather than 

shares owned. Each Member has equal voting rights, regardless of their level of share ownership. Member shares can be 

transferred or redeemed under directors approval in accordance with the terms of the Constitution of Capricorn Society 

Limited. Ordinary shares carry the right to dividends. 
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16 Issued capital and reserves 

(a) Contributed equity 
 

              No. of Shares              Share Capital 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 No. No. $'000 $'000 

Ordinary shares issued and fully 

paid: 
 

 

 

 

Member shares 200,748,912 178,612,733 196,541 174,562 

All region shares 703,862 557,858 704 558 
 201,452,774 179,170,591 197,245 175,120 

Movement in Member shares on issue 
 

Member Shares            No. of Shares             Share Capital 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 No. No. $'000 $'000 

     

Opening balance at 1 July 178,612,733 157,889,337 174,562 154,086 

Additional shares issued 18,453,916 17,432,411 18,239 17,221 

Additional shares issued via 

dividend reinvestment plan 

11,934,918 10,615,515 11,868 10,482 

Shares buy-back (8,252,655) (7,324,530) (8,128) (7,227) 

Balance at 30 June 200,748,912 178,612,733 196,541 174,562 

Member shares 

Due to the cooperative focus of Capricorn Society Limited, voting rights are determined by membership, rather than 

shares owned. Each Member has equal voting rights, regardless of their level of share ownership. Member shares can be 

transferred or redeemed under directors approval in accordance with the terms of the Constitution of Capricorn Society 

Limited. Ordinary shares carry the right to dividends. 
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16 Issued capital and reserves (continued) 

(a) Contributed equity (continued) 

Movement in all region shares on issue 
 

All Region Shares No. of Shares Share Capital 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 

 No. No. $'000 $'000 

     

Opening balance at 1 July 557,858 441,303 558 441 

Additional shares issued 108,814 87,120 109 87 

Additional shares issued via dividend 

reinvestment plan 
38,275 30,518 38 31 

Shares buy-back (1,085) (1,083) (1) (1) 

Balance at 30 June 703,862 557,858 704 558 

All region shares 

All region shares are issued in Australian dollars only, one share is equal to one Australian dollar. All region shares do not 

have voting rights except on matters considered at a separate meeting of all region shareholders. All region shares carry 

the right to dividends. The redemption and transfer of all region shares are subject to directors’ approval. 

 

(b) Reserves 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

Foreign currency translation reserve   

Opening balance at 1 July 2,065 2,170 

Currency translation differences arising during the year (967) (105) 

Closing balance at 30 June 1,098 2,065 

Nature and purpose of foreign currency translation reserve 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, 

as described in Note 1(d). The reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operations are disposed of. 

 

(c) Retained earnings 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

Opening balance at 1 July 94,481 56,925 

Profit for the year 17,387 37,558 

Dividends (12,471) (2) 

Closing balance at 30 June 99,397 94,481 

  

89Capricorn Society • Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 
 

 

16 Issued capital and reserves (continued) 

(d) Dividends declared 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

2021 fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per share declared in September 

2021 paid in September 2021 
12,471 - 

2020 fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per share declared in June 2020 

paid in July 2020 
- 2 

 12,471 2 

 

A dividend of 5 cents per share was declared after reporting date, on 7 September 2022.  This has not been recognized 
as a liability as at 30 June 2022. 

(e) Balance of franking account 

 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are:   

Franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30% (2021: 30%). 52,059 42,298 

Imputation credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the 

provision for income tax.  

4,295 5,983 

 56,354 48,281 

 

17 Contingent liabilities 

As part of the registration requirements of the International Air Transport Association (IATA), Capricorn Travel Australia 

Pty Ltd has provided a guarantee of $48,000 (2021: $77,000). As at 30 June 2022 this guarantee has been valued at Nil 

(2021: Nil). The maximum exposure in the likelihood of default is $48,000 however, the likelihood of default is considered 

to be minimal. 

A rental guarantee of $174,000 (2021: $174,000) is required by the landlord of the Sydney office. As at 30 June 2022 a 

guarantee for Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Ltd existed that has been valued at Nil (2021: Nil). The maximum 

exposure in the likelihood of default is $174,000 however, the likelihood of default is considered to be minimal.  

Refer to Note 19(b) and 19(c) for details of guarantees provided by Capricorn Society Limited. 
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16 Issued capital and reserves (continued) 

(d) Dividends declared 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

2021 fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per share declared in September 

2021 paid in September 2021 
12,471 - 

2020 fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per share declared in June 2020 

paid in July 2020 
- 2 

 12,471 2 

 

A dividend of 5 cents per share was declared after reporting date, on 7 September 2022.  This has not been recognized 
as a liability as at 30 June 2022. 

(e) Balance of franking account 

 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are:   

Franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30% (2021: 30%). 52,059 42,298 

Imputation credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the 

provision for income tax.  

4,295 5,983 

 56,354 48,281 

 

17 Contingent liabilities 

As part of the registration requirements of the International Air Transport Association (IATA), Capricorn Travel Australia 

Pty Ltd has provided a guarantee of $48,000 (2021: $77,000). As at 30 June 2022 this guarantee has been valued at Nil 

(2021: Nil). The maximum exposure in the likelihood of default is $48,000 however, the likelihood of default is considered 

to be minimal. 

A rental guarantee of $174,000 (2021: $174,000) is required by the landlord of the Sydney office. As at 30 June 2022 a 

guarantee for Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Ltd existed that has been valued at Nil (2021: Nil). The maximum 

exposure in the likelihood of default is $174,000 however, the likelihood of default is considered to be minimal.  

Refer to Note 19(b) and 19(c) for details of guarantees provided by Capricorn Society Limited. 
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18 Fair value measurement 

The Group measures certain financial assets and non-financial assets such as investment properties, at fair value at each 

balance sheet date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 

presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

 in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset, 

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 

asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 

to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 

hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 

whole: 

 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable. 

 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable. 

For assets that are measured at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 

transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
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18 Fair value measurement (continued) 

The board determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as investment 

properties and financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement. 

External valuers are involved for valuation of properties. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the 

board. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are 

maintained.  

At each reporting date, the board analyses the movements in the values of assets which are required to be re-measured 

or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the board verifies the major inputs applied in the 

latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.  

The Group’s external valuers present the valuation results to the Audit Committee and the Group’s independent 

auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

Set out below is an overview of financial instruments, other than cash and cash equivalents, held by the Group: 

 

2022 
Financial assets and 

financial liabilities 
at amortised cost 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss (Note 
7) 

 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets:   

Investment in hybrid securities - 3,012 

Investment in government bonds - 12,870 

Investment in fixed interest securities - 7,526 

Investment in listed securities - 19,697 

Investments in unit trusts - 108,177 

Unlisted securities - 9 

Equipment loans  14,703 - 

Total non-current  14,703 151,291 

Trade account advances and equipment loans 299,438 - 

Total current  299,438 - 

Total 314,141 151,291 
   

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 220,312 - 

Reward Points liability 82,112 - 

Total current 302,424 - 

Total 302,424 - 
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18 Fair value measurement (continued) 

The board determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as investment 

properties and financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement. 

External valuers are involved for valuation of properties. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the 

board. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are 

maintained.  

At each reporting date, the board analyses the movements in the values of assets which are required to be re-measured 

or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the board verifies the major inputs applied in the 

latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.  

The Group’s external valuers present the valuation results to the Audit Committee and the Group’s independent 

auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

Set out below is an overview of financial instruments, other than cash and cash equivalents, held by the Group: 

 

2022 
Financial assets and 

financial liabilities 
at amortised cost 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss (Note 
7) 

 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets:   

Investment in hybrid securities - 3,012 

Investment in government bonds - 12,870 

Investment in fixed interest securities - 7,526 

Investment in listed securities - 19,697 

Investments in unit trusts - 108,177 

Unlisted securities - 9 

Equipment loans  14,703 - 

Total non-current  14,703 151,291 

Trade account advances and equipment loans 299,438 - 

Total current  299,438 - 

Total 314,141 151,291 
   

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 220,312 - 

Reward Points liability 82,112 - 

Total current 302,424 - 

Total 302,424 - 
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18 Fair value measurement (continued) 

Set out below is an overview of financial instruments, other than cash and cash equivalents, held by the Group: 

2021 

Financial assets and 
financial liabilities 
at amortised cost 

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss (Note 
7) 

 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets:   

Investment in hybrid securities - 12,953 

Investment in fixed interest securities - 5,681 

Investment in listed securities - 14,472 

Investments in unit trusts - 82,892 

Unlisted securities - 9 

Equipment loans 13,026 - 

Total non-current  13,026 116,007 

Trade account advances and equipment loans 265,300 - 

Total current  265,300 - 

Total 278,326 116,007 
   

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 194,366 - 

Reward Points liability 68,282 - 

Total current 262,648 - 

Total 262,648 - 

 

Management assessed that the fair values of cash and short-term deposits, trade account advances, 

equipment loans and trade and other payables to approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-

term maturities of these instruments. 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value 

on a recurring basis, as at 30 June 2022. 

  Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Assets measured at fair value: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets (Note 7)     

Investment in hybrid securities  3,012 3,012 - - 

Investment in government bonds 12,870 - 12,870 - 

Investment in fixed interest securities 7,526 - 7,526 - 

Investments in listed securities  19,697 19,697 - - 

Investments in unit trusts 108,177 - 108,177 - 

Unlisted securities  9 - - 9 

 151,291 22,709 128,573 9 

During the year ended 30 June 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or level 2 and level 3 fair value 

measurements.   
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18 Fair value measurement (continued) 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value 

on a recurring basis, at 30 June 2021. 

  Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  

Assets measured at fair value: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets (Note 7)     

Investment in hybrid securities  12,953 12,953 - - 

Investment in fixed interest securities 5,681 - 5,681 - 

Investments in listed securities  14,472 14,472 - - 

Investments in unit trusts 82,892 - 82,892 - 

Unlisted securities  9 - - 9 

Investment Properties (Note 8) 3,655 - - 3,655 

 119,662 27,425 88,573 3,664 

During the year ended 30 June 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or level 2 and level 3 fair value 

measurements.  

Movements of significant assets in Level 3  

  
 Investment 

Properties 

  $'000 

   

At 30 June 2020  3,975 

Revaluation loss recognised in other expenses  (320) 

At 30 June 2021  3,655 

Disposal of investment property  (2,030) 

Revaluation gain recognised in other operating income  1,275 

Reclassification to inventory  (2,900) 

At 30 June 2022  - 

 

Valuation techniques 

The fair value of the hybrid securities, government bonds and listed securities is based on price quotations in an active 

market at the reporting date. 

The fair value of units in trusts is determined by reference to published bid prices at the close of business on the reporting 

date, being the redemption price as established by the underlying trust’s responsible entity. 
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18 Fair value measurement (continued) 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value 

on a recurring basis, at 30 June 2021. 

  Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  

Assets measured at fair value: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets (Note 7)     

Investment in hybrid securities  12,953 12,953 - - 

Investment in fixed interest securities 5,681 - 5,681 - 

Investments in listed securities  14,472 14,472 - - 

Investments in unit trusts 82,892 - 82,892 - 

Unlisted securities  9 - - 9 

Investment Properties (Note 8) 3,655 - - 3,655 

 119,662 27,425 88,573 3,664 

During the year ended 30 June 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or level 2 and level 3 fair value 

measurements.  

Movements of significant assets in Level 3  

  
 Investment 

Properties 

  $'000 

   

At 30 June 2020  3,975 

Revaluation loss recognised in other expenses  (320) 

At 30 June 2021  3,655 

Disposal of investment property  (2,030) 

Revaluation gain recognised in other operating income  1,275 

Reclassification to inventory  (2,900) 

At 30 June 2022  - 

 

Valuation techniques 

The fair value of the hybrid securities, government bonds and listed securities is based on price quotations in an active 

market at the reporting date. 

The fair value of units in trusts is determined by reference to published bid prices at the close of business on the reporting 

date, being the redemption price as established by the underlying trust’s responsible entity. 
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18 Fair value measurement (continued) 

Valuation techniques for unlisted securities are based on the directors’ assessment of fair value at reporting date. 

Valuation techniques for non-current receivables are detailed in Note 4. 

19 Financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at fair value, trade account 

advances, accounts payable, Reward Point liabilities and lease liabilities. 

The main purpose for non-derivative financial instruments is to increase returns on Member's funds held by the Group. 

(b) Financial risk management policies  

i. Treasury risk management 

The board of directors meet on a regular basis to monitor investment policy, strategy and implementation in respect of 

all investments managed by the Group. Specific duties include evaluating which financial instruments should be used, 

monitoring and evaluating investment performance, and assessing income liquidity to strategic spend. 

ii. Financial risk exposures and management 

The main risks the Group is exposed to through financial instruments are interest rate risk, equity price risk, foreign 

currency risk, and credit risk. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group is subject to interest rate risk on funds held in bank accounts. Interest rate risk is managed by the Group’s 

treasury department in accordance with the Group’s investment policy which prescribes investments only in A-1+ and A-

1 financial institutions. The risk is managed by using a mix of fixed rate term deposits and floating rate cash deposits. The 

mix is at management discretion. The Group currently has no borrowings, so is not exposed to increases in the cost of 

funding. At 30 June 2022 the Group held $90,222,000 (2021: $103,142,000) in bank accounts subject to variable 

interest rate risk. The Group has Nil (2021: Nil) in term deposits at fixed rates. 

Equity price risk 

The Group employs the services of managers to review its share portfolios. Periodic meetings between fund managers 

and the Group’s management evaluate the Group's portfolio risk against equity price risk. At 30 June 2022 the Group 

held $151,282,000 (2021: $115,998,000) in financial assets subject to equity price risk. 
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19 Financial instruments (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management policies (continued) 

Foreign currency risk 

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities 

(when revenue or expense is denominated in different currency from the Group’s functional currency) and the Group’s 

net investments in foreign subsidiaries. 

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by holding bank accounts in the foreign country of operation to fund 

working capital requirements. 

Credit risk 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 

recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in 

the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements. 

Collateral has been taken in the form of fully paid Capricorn shares to redeem outstanding debts in the event of 

non-payment. As shares are not traded and share price is retained at face value, collateral value is high. 

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis and reviewed regularly by the audit & risk committee. It arises from exposures to 

Members and deposits with financial institutions. 

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 

instruments entered into by the consolidated Group. The amount of receivables at 30 June 2022 subject to credit risk is 

$311,025,000 (2021: $275,136,000).  

Cash deposits are held with AA- rated financial institutions therefore credit risk is minimal. 

Other receivables are primarily made up of accrued service fee. This is received via Capricorn subtracting this amount 

from the supplier payments. As such there is no risk. 

Financial instruments and cash deposits 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in 

accordance with the Group’s investment policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved 

counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the 

Group’s board of directors on an annual basis and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the 

Capricorn Finance Committee. 

The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential 

counterparty’s failure to make payments. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 

statement of financial position at 30 June 2022 and 2021 are the carrying amounts as illustrated elsewhere in this note 

except for financial guarantees. The Group’s maximum exposure for financial guarantees is noted in the liquidity table 

below. 
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19 Financial instruments (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management policies (continued) 

Foreign currency risk 

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s operating activities 

(when revenue or expense is denominated in different currency from the Group’s functional currency) and the Group’s 

net investments in foreign subsidiaries. 

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by holding bank accounts in the foreign country of operation to fund 

working capital requirements. 

Credit risk 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 

recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in 

the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements. 

Collateral has been taken in the form of fully paid Capricorn shares to redeem outstanding debts in the event of 

non-payment. As shares are not traded and share price is retained at face value, collateral value is high. 

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis and reviewed regularly by the audit & risk committee. It arises from exposures to 

Members and deposits with financial institutions. 

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 

instruments entered into by the consolidated Group. The amount of receivables at 30 June 2022 subject to credit risk is 

$311,025,000 (2021: $275,136,000).  

Cash deposits are held with AA- rated financial institutions therefore credit risk is minimal. 

Other receivables are primarily made up of accrued service fee. This is received via Capricorn subtracting this amount 

from the supplier payments. As such there is no risk. 

Financial instruments and cash deposits 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in 

accordance with the Group’s investment policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved 

counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the 

Group’s board of directors on an annual basis and may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the 

Capricorn Finance Committee. 

The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through potential 

counterparty’s failure to make payments. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 

statement of financial position at 30 June 2022 and 2021 are the carrying amounts as illustrated elsewhere in this note 

except for financial guarantees. The Group’s maximum exposure for financial guarantees is noted in the liquidity table 

below. 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022 
 

 

19 Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate 

liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s funding and liquidity management 

requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities, by continuously 

monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  

The following table details the Group’s maturity analysis for their financial liabilities. These have been drawn up based on 

undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial liabilities including interest that will be incurred on those liabilities 

using “worst case scenarios”. 

 

 
Less than 1 

month 

1 - 3 

months 

3 months 

 - 1 year 1 - 5 years 5+ years 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2022 
     

Non-interest bearing 302,641 - - - - 

Financial guarantee 222 - - - - 
 302,863 - - - - 

2021 
  

   
Non-interest bearing 262,649 - - - - 

Financial guarantee 251 - - - - 
 

262,900 - - - - 

(d)  Sensitivity analysis 

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 

equity price risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity 

which could result from a change in these risks. 

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the portion of cash 

and term deposits affected. The effect on profit as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables 

remaining constant would be as follows: 
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19 Financial instruments (continued) 

(d)  Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

 

Increase/decrease in 

basis points Total 

  $'000 
2022   

Cash subject to interest rate risk  90,222 

Change in profit before tax   

Increase in Interest Rates  +100 902 

Decrease in Interest Rates  -100 (902) 
   

2021   

Cash and term deposits subject to interest rate risk 
 

103,142 

Change in profit before tax 
  

Increase in Interest Rates  +100 1,031 

Decrease in Interest Rates  -100 (1,031) 

 

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the movement in rates 

available to the Group. Based on management assessment of interest rates over the year, it is considered a movement 

of 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis points) is reasonable. 

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2022, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is immaterial. 

Equity price risk sensitivity analysis 

The Group’s listed and unlisted securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future 

values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits 

on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior 

management on a regular basis. The Group’s board of directors reviews and approves all equity investment decisions. 

At 30 June 2022, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the equity price risk, with all other variables 

remaining constant would be as follows: 
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19 Financial instruments (continued) 

(d)  Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

 

Increase/decrease in 

basis points Total 

  $'000 
2022   

Cash subject to interest rate risk  90,222 

Change in profit before tax   

Increase in Interest Rates  +100 902 

Decrease in Interest Rates  -100 (902) 
   

2021   

Cash and term deposits subject to interest rate risk 
 

103,142 

Change in profit before tax 
  

Increase in Interest Rates  +100 1,031 

Decrease in Interest Rates  -100 (1,031) 

 

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the movement in rates 

available to the Group. Based on management assessment of interest rates over the year, it is considered a movement 

of 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis points) is reasonable. 

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2022, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is immaterial. 

Equity price risk sensitivity analysis 

The Group’s listed and unlisted securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future 

values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits 

on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior 

management on a regular basis. The Group’s board of directors reviews and approves all equity investment decisions. 

At 30 June 2022, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the equity price risk, with all other variables 

remaining constant would be as follows: 
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19 Financial instruments (continued) 

(d)  Sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

 

Increase/decrease in 

S&P/ASX 200 Price 

Index Total 
  $'000 

2022   

Investments subject to equity price risk  131,542 

Change in profit before tax   

Increase in Market Prices  10% 13,154 

Decrease in Market Prices -10% (13,154) 
   

2021 
  

Investments subject to equity price risk 
 

115,998 

Change in profit before tax   

Increase in Market Prices  24% 27,840 

Decrease in Market Prices -24% (27,840) 

The assumed movement is based on changes in the S&P/ASX 200 Price Index. Based on management assessment of 

the S&P/ASX 200 Price Index over the year, it is considered a movement of 10% (2021: 24%) is reasonable. 

(e) Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2021. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued 

capital, reserves and retained earnings. 

None of the Group’s entities are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand operations, as well as to make routine expenditures such as tax, 

dividends and general administrative outgoings. 

Gearing levels are reviewed by the board during the budgeting process and as required through the year. 
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20 Related party disclosure 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Capricorn Society Limited and the subsidiaries 

listed in the following table: 

 

 % Equity Interest 

 2022 2021 

% % 

   

Capricorn Insurance Services Pty Limited 100 100 

Capricorn Travel Australia Pty Limited 100 100 

Capricorn Society Financial Services Pty Limited 100 100 

Capricorn Risk Services Pty Limited  100 100 

Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Limited 100 100 

Capricorn 1974 Pty Ltd 100 100 

 

Transactions with Capricorn Mutual Limited and related parties 

In 2003 Capricorn Society Limited established Capricorn Mutual Limited (“the Mutual”) in response to the desire by 

some Members to access a separate and unique offering of risk protection services. Risk protection services create 

exposure to an inherently different set of risks and returns to the Capricorn business. As these risks and services were not 

attractive to all Members of the Group, the Mutual was created.  

The Group is one Member out of approximately 10,125 of the Mutual’s Members. The Mutual’s constitution requires CSL 

to hold a majority of seats on the Mutual’s board of directors (the board) although the Mutual’s Members do have the 

ability to amend the constitution to remove the board. 

In view of the above, while Capricorn Society Limited has the power over CML through a majority of board positions, it 

has little exposure to variable returns. Therefore, the Capricorn Society Limited board considers that the relationship 

between the Group and the Mutual is that of the Group acting as an agent and given the Group has minimal exposure 

to variable returns, it has not consolidated the Mutual. 

Whilst the Mutual is not a related party to CSL under the Corporations Act, Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Ltd and 

Capricorn Risk Services Pty Ltd which are both a subsidiary of CSL are engaged by the Mutual to manage the day to day 

operations of the mutual on behalf of the Mutual’s board. As a result, in the interest of disclosure, the following 

transactions have been noted. 

The Mutual provides benefits to the Mutual’s Members by the way of protection services provided with competitive 

prices and/or expansion of services when possible. The Mutual is unable to pay dividends given the structure of the 

Mutual. 

The Group provides the Mutual with payment, settlement and distribution services. It has also provided loans and other 

finance required for the establishment and growth of the Mutual.  
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20 Related party disclosure (continued) 

An amount of $9,633,000 was outstanding at 30 June 2022 (2021: $8,190,000) in relation to trade payables to the 

Mutual which will be settled within normal trade terms. 

The Group therefore carries no assets and $9,633,000 of liabilities in respect of the Mutual. CSL is not exposed to further 

net liabilities of the Mutual other than payment of the above trade payable. 

During the year the Group earned fees for providing services to the Mutual of $26,222,000 (2021: $21,974,000). All 

charges are based on recovery of costs ensuring remuneration is on an arm’s length basis and reasonable. Additionally, 

the Mutual also has payments made to it by CSL benchmarked externally to ensure arm’s length commercial terms. 

The nature of the cost recoveries, lack of ability to pay dividends and the Mutual’s objective of constant improvement of 

services to the Mutual’s Members when financially prudent, minimises further returns for the Group.  

Directors Mark Cooper, Bruce Rathie, Mario Pirone and Russell Becker (retired), were directors of Capricorn Mutual 

Limited during the year. The Mutual paid a total of $192,000 in directors’ fees to these directors during the year ended 

30 June 2022 (2021: $214,000). 

All directors of the parent entity, other than independent non-Member directors, are Members of the Group and 

conduct Member accounts. The terms and conditions of all Member accounts operated by directors are the same as 

accounts provided to other Members. Reward Points earned by directors for the year were $173,629 (2021: $165,000) 

and the Reward Point balances owing to Member directors at 30 June 2022 were $137,187 (2021: $110,000). 

21 Information relating to Capricorn Society Limited (Parent) 

 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

   

Current assets 381,497 355,792 

Total assets 598,303 536,246 

Current liabilities 303,870 272,620 

Total liabilities 315,189 274,355 
   

Issued capital 196,007 175,120 

Foreign currency translation reserve 1,154 2,070 

Retained earnings 85,953 84,701 
   

Profit of the Parent entity 12,789 35,365 

Total comprehensive income of the Parent entity 11,822 35,260 
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22 Auditors' remuneration 

The auditor of Capricorn Society Limited is EY. 

 

 2022 2021 

I. Category 1 – Fees to the Group auditor for:   

(i) Auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the Group; 176,470 159,350 

(ii) Auditing the statutory financial reports of any controlled entities; 28,018 25,300 
 204,488 184,650 

   

II. Category 2 – Fees for assurance services that are required by legislation 

to be provided by the auditor; 
 

6,611 5,970 

   

III. Category 3 – Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-

procedures/services under other legislation or contractual arrangements 

where there is a discretion as to whether the service is provided by the 

auditor or another firm; and 

76,313 103,186 

   

IV. Category 4 – Fees for other services - - 

 82,924 109,156 

 287,412 293,806 

   

23 Events after the end of the reporting period 

Since the end of the reporting period the following significant events have occurred which may impact on the results for 

the year ended 30 June 2022. 

At the meeting on 7th September 2022 the Capricorn Society Limited board declared a dividend of 5 cents per share. 

This will be fully franked in Australia, equating to a gross dividend yield of 7.1% of contributed equity at 30 June 2022, 

and partially franked in New Zealand. 

All subsequent references to gross dividend are calculated on the basis that full franking credits are available. 

These dividends deliver to shareholders a payment of $9,900,000 (June 2021: $12,458,000) and franked tax credits 

totalling $4,243,000 (June 2021: $5,339,000), giving a gross dividend of $14,143,000 (June 2021: $17,797,000). 

The Capricorn Society Limited board also resolved to pay a rebate of $15,000,000 to Members on purchases made 

during the year ended 30 June 2022. 

The rebate will be payable to both Australian and New Zealand Members via additional reward points. 
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24 Company details 

Registered office 

The registered office of the company is: 

Capricorn Society Limited 

28 Troode Street 

West Perth WA 6005 

 
25 New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

The following list of new Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective for the year ended 30 

June 2022. The Group has not completed a detailed review of standards and interpretations applicable from 1 July 2022. 

The impact, if any, of standards or interpretations applicable from 1 July 2022 has not yet been fully determined. 

 
Reference Title Summary Application 

date of 
standard* 

Application 
date for 
Group* 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to AASs –
Classification of Liabilities 
as Current or Non-current 

A liability is classified as current if the entity 
has no right at the end of the reporting period 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. The AASB recently 
issued amendments to AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements to 
clarify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. 
Specifically: 
► The amendments specify that the 
conditions which exist at the end of the 
reporting period are those which will be used 
to determine if a right to defer settlement of 
a liability exists. 
► Management intention or expectation 
does not affect classification of liabilities. 
► In cases where an instrument with a 
conversion option is classified as a liability,the 
transfer of equity instruments would 
constitute settlement of the liability for the 
purpose of classifying it as current or non-
current. 

1 January 
2023 

1 July 2023 

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to AASB 3 – 
Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework 

The IASB’s assessment of applying the 
revised definitions of assets and liabilities in 
the Conceptual Framework to business 
combinations showed that the problem of 
day 2 gains or losses would be significant only 
for liabilities that an acquirer accounts for 
after the acquisition date by applying IAS 37 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies. The 
board updated IFRS 3 in May 2020 for the 
revised definitions of an asset and a liability 
and excluded the application of the 
Conceptual Framework to liabilities and 
contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 
37 or IFRIC 21. 

1 January 
2022 

1 July 2022 
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25 New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 
standard* 

Application 
date for 
Group* 

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to AASB 7, 
AASB 101, AASB 134 
Interim Financial 
Reporting and AASB 
Practice Statement 2 
Making Materiality 
Judgements9 – Disclosure 
of Accounting Policies 

The amendments to AASB 101 require 
disclosure of material accounting policy 
information, instead of significant accounting 
policies. Unlike ‘material’, ‘significant’ was not 
defined in Australian Accounting Standards. 
Leveraging the existing definition of material 
with additional guidance is expected to help 
preparers make more effective accounting 
policy disclosures. The guidance illustrates 
circumstances where an entity is likely to 
consider accounting policy information to be 
material. Entity-specific accounting policy 
information is emphasised as being more 
useful than generic information or summaries 
of the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 
The amendments to AASB Practice 
Statement 2 supplement the amendments to 
AASB 101 by illustrating how the four-step 
materiality process can identify material 
accounting policy information. 

1 January 
2023 

1 July 2023 
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25 New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 
standard* 

Application 
date for 
Group* 

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to AASB 7, 
AASB 101, AASB 134 
Interim Financial 
Reporting and AASB 
Practice Statement 2 
Making Materiality 
Judgements9 – Disclosure 
of Accounting Policies 

The amendments to AASB 101 require 
disclosure of material accounting policy 
information, instead of significant accounting 
policies. Unlike ‘material’, ‘significant’ was not 
defined in Australian Accounting Standards. 
Leveraging the existing definition of material 
with additional guidance is expected to help 
preparers make more effective accounting 
policy disclosures. The guidance illustrates 
circumstances where an entity is likely to 
consider accounting policy information to be 
material. Entity-specific accounting policy 
information is emphasised as being more 
useful than generic information or summaries 
of the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 
The amendments to AASB Practice 
Statement 2 supplement the amendments to 
AASB 101 by illustrating how the four-step 
materiality process can identify material 
accounting policy information. 

1 January 
2023 

1 July 2023 
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25 New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 
standard* 

Application 
date for 
Group* 

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to AASB 108 
– Definition of Accounting 
Estimate 

An accounting policy may require items in the 
financial statements to be measured using 
information that is either directly observable, 
or estimated. Accounting estimates use 
inputs and measurement techniques that 
require judgements and assumptions based 
on the latest available, reliable information. 
The amendments to AASB 108 clarify the 
definition of an accounting estimate, making 
it easier to differentiate it from an accounting 
policy. The distinction is necessary as their 
treatment and disclosure requirements are 
different. Critically, a change in an 
accounting estimate is applied prospectively 
whereas a change in an accounting policy is 
generally applied retrospectively. 
The new definition provides that ‘Accounting 
estimates are monetary amounts in financial 
statements that are subject to measurement 
uncertainty.’ The amendments explain that a 
change in an input or a measurement 
technique used to develop an accounting 
estimate is considered a change in an 
accounting estimate unless it is correcting a 
prior period error. 
►For example, a change in a valuation 
technique used to measure the fair value of 
an investment property from market 
approach to income approach would be 
treated as a change in estimate rather than a 
change in accounting policy. 
► In contrast, a change in an underlying 
measurement objective, such as changing 
the measurement basis of investment 
property from cost to fair value, would be 
treated as a change in accounting policy.  
The amendments did not change the existing 
treatment for a situation where it is difficult to 
distinguish a change in an accounting policy 
from a change in an accounting estimate. In 
such a case, the change is accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate 

1 January 
2023 

1 July 2023 
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25 New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 
standard* 

Application 
date for 
Group* 

AASB 2021-5 Amendments to AASs – 
Deferred Tax related to 
Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single 
Transaction 

AASB 112 Income Taxes requires entities to 
account for income tax consequences when 
economic transactions take place, and not at 
the time when income tax payments or 
recoveries are made. Accounting for such tax 
consequences, means entities need to 
consider the differences 
between the tax rules and the accounting 
standards. These differences could either be: 
► Permanent – e.g., when tax rules do not 
allow a certain expense to ever be deducted; 
or 
► Temporary – e.g., when tax rules treat an 
item of income as taxable in a period later 
than when included in the accounting profit. 
Deferred taxes representing amounts of 
income tax payable or recoverable in the 
future must be recognised on temporary 
differences unless prohibited by AASB 112 in 
certain circumstances. One of these 
circumstances, known as the initial 
recognition exception, applies when a 
transaction affects neither accounting profit 
nor taxable profit, and is not a business 
combination. Views differ about applying this 
exception to transactions that, on initial 
recognition, create both an asset and liability 
(and could give rise to equal amounts of 
taxable and deductible temporary 
differences) such as: 
► Recognising a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability when commencing a lease 
► Recognising decommissioning, 
restoration and similar liabilities with 
corresponding amounts included in the cost 
of the related asset 
Some entities have previously recognized 
deferred tax consequences for these types of 
transactions, having concluded that they did 
not qualify for the initial recognition 
exception. The amendments to AASB 112 
clarify that the exception would not normally 
apply. That is, the scope of this exception has 
been narrowed such that it no longer applies 
to transactions that, on initial recognition, 
give rise to equal amounts of taxable and 
deductible temporary differences. 
The amendments to AASB 112: 
► Apply to transactions that occur on or after 
the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented; and 
► Require entities to also recognise deferred 
tax for all temporary differences related to 
leases, decommissioning, restoration and 
similar liabilities at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented. 

1 January 
2023 

1 July 2023 
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25 New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 
date of 
standard* 

Application 
date for 
Group* 
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► Permanent – e.g., when tax rules do not 
allow a certain expense to ever be deducted; 
or 
► Temporary – e.g., when tax rules treat an 
item of income as taxable in a period later 
than when included in the accounting profit. 
Deferred taxes representing amounts of 
income tax payable or recoverable in the 
future must be recognised on temporary 
differences unless prohibited by AASB 112 in 
certain circumstances. One of these 
circumstances, known as the initial 
recognition exception, applies when a 
transaction affects neither accounting profit 
nor taxable profit, and is not a business 
combination. Views differ about applying this 
exception to transactions that, on initial 
recognition, create both an asset and liability 
(and could give rise to equal amounts of 
taxable and deductible temporary 
differences) such as: 
► Recognising a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability when commencing a lease 
► Recognising decommissioning, 
restoration and similar liabilities with 
corresponding amounts included in the cost 
of the related asset 
Some entities have previously recognized 
deferred tax consequences for these types of 
transactions, having concluded that they did 
not qualify for the initial recognition 
exception. The amendments to AASB 112 
clarify that the exception would not normally 
apply. That is, the scope of this exception has 
been narrowed such that it no longer applies 
to transactions that, on initial recognition, 
give rise to equal amounts of taxable and 
deductible temporary differences. 
The amendments to AASB 112: 
► Apply to transactions that occur on or after 
the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented; and 
► Require entities to also recognise deferred 
tax for all temporary differences related to 
leases, decommissioning, restoration and 
similar liabilities at the beginning of the 
earliest comparative period presented. 

1 January 
2023 

1 July 2023 

 
 

 

Directors' Declaration 
 

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Capricorn Society Limited, we state that: 

 

1) in the directors’ opinion, the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity have been prepared in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including that they: 

 

a) comply with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 

and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

b) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2022 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 

c) the financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as described in 

note 1(b), 

 

2) the directors have received declarations in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the 

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer; and 

 

3) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they become due and payable. 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

   

Mark Cooper 
Director 

 

Bruce Rathie 
Director 

 

Dated this 7th day of September 2022 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Capricorn Society 
Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Capricorn Society Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 
June 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

a) Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022 
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report 
accompanying the financial report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
Timothy G Dachs 
Partner 
Perth 
7 September 2022 
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